
Please ask for Amanda Taylor: Telephone 01775 764837 
e-mail: amandataylor@sholland.gov.uk

REVISED
AGENDA

Committee - CABINET

Date & Time - Tuesday, 12 July 2016 at 10.00 am

Venue - Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Cabinet:

Councillors: The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader), C N Worth (Deputy Leader), 
M G Chandler (Deputy Leader), A Casson, P E Coupland, R Gambba-Jones, C J Lawton, 
S-A Slade and G J Taylor.

No substitutions permitted. Quorum 4.

Note: Cabinet reports may be referred to Council or Scrutiny Panels.  They 
should therefore be kept for future reference during the current 
committee cycle.  

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to 

silent mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   7 July 2016



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Cabinet held on 3 May 2016 (copy enclosed).  

(Pages 
1 - 4)

3. Declarations of Interest.

(Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without 
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item, 
except where a Councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of 
dispensation.)

4. Questions raised by the public under the Council's Constitution 
(Standing Orders).

5. To consider any matters subject to call-in.

6. To consider any matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels in accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure or the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure 
Rules. 

7. Superfast Broadband contribution by South Holland District Council - To 
consider South Holland District Council’s contribution to the roll out of 
Superfast Broadband across South Holland.  (Report of the Deputy 
Leader of the Council and the Executive Director Commercialisation 
(S151) enclosed.)

(Pages 
5 - 42)

8. South Holland District Council Strategic Sites Prioritisation - To seek 
approval from Cabinet for the development of options to secure a 
sustainable future for Ayscoughfee Hall Museum and Gardens, South 
Holland Centre and Priory Road offices.  The options developed will be 
presented to Cabinet as formal business cases for further consideration 
and to inform future decision making.  (Report of the Deputy Leaders of 
South Holland District Council and the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151) enclosed.)

(Pages 
43 - 50)



9. Housing Delivery/Welland Homes Interim Business Plan - In the light of 
the new housing and planning bill and the anticipated impact on and 
implications for the Council as a Landlord in housing delivery across the 
District, members are asked to consider an interim business plan for 
Welland Homes and agree arrangements to accommodate anticipated 
increase in housing delivery requirements in the longer term.  (Report of 
the Portfolio Holder for Housing (Share-Holders’ Representative) and 
the Board Chairman of Welland Homes enclosed.)

(Please note that the appendix is not for publication by virtue of 
Paragraphs 3 (Information relating to the financial or business 
affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that 
information) and 5 (Information in respect of which a claim to legal 
professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings) in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12a of the Local Government Act 1972, and is 
therefore attached to this agenda as Item 14.)

(Pages 
51 - 56)

10. Financial Outturn 2015-16 - This report provides information on the out 
turn financial position of the Council, as at 31st March 2016. For 
information and to approve recommendations.  (Report of the Portfolio 
Holder Finance and the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151) 
enclosed.)

(Pages 
57 - 72)

11. Appointment of Panels and Working Parties - To consider the 
appointment of Panels and Working Parties.  (Report of the Executive 
Manager Governance enclosed.)

(Pages 
73 - 76)

12. Any other items which the Leader decides are urgent. - 

Note: (i) No other business is permitted unless by reason of 
special circumstances, which shall be specified in the 
Minutes, the Leader is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of urgency.  

(ii) Any urgent item of business that is a key decision must 
be dealt with in accordance with the Constitution’s 
Access to Information Procedure Rules.

13. To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 3 and 5 of 
part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 

14. Housing Delivery/Welland Homes Interim Business Plan - Appendix 
(enclosed). 

(Pages 
77 - 80)



This page is intentionally left blank



- 36 -

Minutes of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 3 May 2016 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader)
C N Worth (Deputy Leader)
M G Chandler (Deputy Leader)

A Casson
P E Coupland

R Gambba-Jones
C J Lawton

S-A Slade
G J Taylor

Junior Portfolio Holders: E J Sneath and A R Woolf. 

The Chief Executive, the Executive Manager Governance, the Executive Manager - 
Public Protection, the Interim Chief Accountant (Deputy S151 Officer), the Strategic 
Housing Manager and the Democratic Services Officer.

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of G Scorthorne (Lincolnshire 
Community & Voluntary Service) and M Scantlebury (Welland Seniors Forum). 

In Attendance:  Councillor G R Aley (Chairman, Governance and Audit Committee) 
and Councillor M Seymour (Chairman, Policy Development Panel).  
 
Community Representatives:  J Whitbourn (Business Organisations) and Councillor R 
Booth (Parish Councils).

Action By
56. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 22 March 2016 were signed 
as a correct record. 

57. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST. 

There were none. 

58. QUESTIONS RAISED BY THE PUBLIC UNDER THE   
         COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (STANDING ORDERS). 

No questions were raised under the Council’s Constitution 
(Standing Orders). 

59. MATTERS SUBJECT TO CALL-IN. 

There were no matters subject to call-in. 

60. MATTERS ARISING FROM THE POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANELS 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2.



- 37 -

CABINET - 3 May 2016

There were no matters arising from the Policy Development and 
Performance Monitoring Panels. 

61. SHDC CORPORATE ASBESTOS POLICY 2016 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder 
for Strategy, Governance and Public Protection and the Executive 
Director Commercialisation (S151), which proposed a revised 
Corporate Asbestos Policy 2016 for approval.

DECISION:

That the revised Corporate Asbestos Policy 2016 be approved. 

(Other options considered:
 Not to approve the recommendation.

Reasons for decision:
 To ensure that the Council operated in accordance with 

relevant legislation.) 

PA, NK 

62. DELIVERY OF EXTRA CARE HOUSING AT KINGS ROAD, 
SPALDING 

Consideration was given to the joint report of the Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and the Executive Director Commercialisation (S151), 
which sought support for the delivery of a dementia-friendly 
supported housing scheme consisting of 39 affordable apartments 
at Kings Road, Spalding.

Members supported the proposal in principle, subject to the 
scheme passing through the planning process.

It was noted that, by providing the land for the scheme, the 
Council would be releasing an asset at less than market value.  
This was permitted by Secretary of State disposal consents and 
the Council’s own policy on land sales.  It was also reported that 
this would be in support of a scheme that would result in the 
Authority gaining nomination rights, which would assist in terms of 
providing it with a wider base upon which to allocate from the 
housing register, thus potentially helping to free-up much needed 
Council stocks.

DECISION:

a) That, subject to planning and full funding being in place, the 
proposal outlined in the report for the development of an Extra 
Care Housing development at Kings Road, Spalding be 
supported;

MH, JK 

Page 2



- 38 -

CABINET - 3 May 2016

b) That, subject to planning consent, contract and full funding 
being in place, the transfer of council-owned land at Kings 
Road, Spalding to Lace Housing, for a figure of £106,500, 
representing 50% of the market valuation of the site, and a 
council contribution (by means of match-funding) to support 
the delivery of the scheme, be agreed;

c) That the capital receipt realised through the sale of the 
council-owned site at Kings Road, Spalding, be directly 
invested into the delivery of new housing through the Council’s 
wholly-owned housing company, Welland Homes Ltd; and

d) That the Council becomes a partner in the Lincolnshire 
Housing with Extra Care Design Guide Competition, 
alongside, alongside Lace Housing and the University of 
Lincoln, with a view for the final design guide to support and 
inform the final design of the facilities provided as part of the 
proposed development.

(Other options considered:
 Not to approve the recommendations.

Reasons for decision:
 To secure the delivery of the proposed Extra Care Housing 

scheme at Kings Road, Spalding, meeting the strategic 
housing ambitions set out within the Council’s Position 
Statement on Extra Care Housing 2015-2018 alongside a 
major critical activity set out in the Council’s Corporate 
Delivery Plan.) 

MH, JK 

MH, JK 

MH, JK 

63. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE LEADER DECIDES ARE 
URGENT. 

There were no urgent items. 

(The meeting ended at 6.40 pm)

(End of minutes)

These minutes are published on Friday 6 May 2016 .  In accordance with the 
Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed above will, unless otherwise stated, 
come into force and may then be implemented on Monday 16 May 2016 (i.e. after the 
expiry of 5 working days from the date of publication of these minutes), unless during
that period a notice which is signed by at least one member of the Council and
complies with the requirements of the Council’s Constitution is served on the
Executive Manager Governance requesting that the decision be called-in and the
Executive Manager Governance approves the request for call-in.  Where a decision
is called-in it will firstly be considered by the Performance Monitoring Panel on a date
to be fixed.

Page 3



- 39 -

CABINET - 3 May 2016

Any FINAL DECISIONS and any URGENT DECISIONS take effect immediately.

Any RECOMMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL detailed above will be submitted for 
consideration to the meeting of the full Council on Wednesday 11 May 2016.

Page 4



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Deputy Leader of the Council and the Executive Director Commercialisation 
(S151)

To: Cabinet – 12 July 2016 

(Author: Tim Mills – Executive Manager Growth)

Subject: Superfast Broadband contribution by SHDC

Purpose: To consider South Holland District Council’s contribution to the roll out of 
Superfast Broadband across South Holland 

Recommendations: 

1) That a contribution of £606,910 will be made to Lincolnshire County Council in respect of the 
roll out of Superfast Broadband in the District; and

2) That authority be delegated to the Chief Executive in consultation with the portfolio holder for 
commercialisation to negotiate contractual terms with Lincolnshire County council and other 
authorities in Greater Lincolnshire and release the payment when negotiations have been 
satisfactorily concluded.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1. On the 6th October 2011, a letter was received by the Chief Executive from Tony McArdle, 
Chief Executive at Lincolnshire County Council, asking that South Holland District Council 
contribute between £409,670 and £606,910, to help the County Council to match fund the 
£14.3m allocated to Lincolnshire by the Government in August 2011 in order to bring 
superfast broadband to 90% of the County by 2015.

1.2. As part of the comprehensive spending review, the Government announced its vision for the 
UK to have the best superfast broadband network in Europe by 2015. The first part of this 
vision is that at least 90% of UK premises would have a minimum of 2Mbps, and to that end, 
committed £530m to support the rollout of superfast broadband by Broadband Delivery UK 
(BDUK). The Lincolnshire vision has been to try and achieve as near universal access to 
superfast broadband as possible 

1.3. On the 8th July 2011, Lincolnshire County Council agreed in principle to provide £10m match 
funding for the Lincolnshire Broadband Delivery Plan to BDUK. In August 2011 the 
Government announced their national funding allocations which included £14.3m for 
Lincolnshire. The District Councils were asked for a contribution to make up the shortfall of 
£4.3m (the difference between the £10m committed by LCC and the £14.3m from BDUK). 
The potential for a lower contribution set out in paragraph 1.1 was based on other sources of 
funding became available but these did not materialise.

1.4. District Councils were asked to sign a memorandum of understanding, a copy of which was 
sent to the Economic Development Officer by David O'Connor. The MOU set out an aim to 
achieve Superfast Broadband (at least 24mbps) to at least 90% of premises in the County by 
the end of 2015, and coverage of the remaining 10% of premises at 2mbps by the end of 
2015. It also included the aim of providing 90% mobile telephony coverage by the end of 
2015. These aims were all county wide, not specific or exclusive to any one area or district.

Page 5

Agenda Item 7.



1.5. Information supplied by David O’Conner on the 25th January 2012 in response to additional   
questions asked showed that SHDC had 30,124 premises in the “White Areas” which are 
those eligible for state aid  (15.2% of the whole county's “white area” premises).  SHDC was 
also shown to have 12.3% of the county's “white area” premises under 2mbps.  The 
programme (and National) target, is to get 90% of premises to Superfast Broadband by 2015 
and the rest to 2mbps by then with Superfast across the whole County by 2017. Some of 
those parts will be covered by satellite etc, rather than fixed connections. The roll out was 
pretty aggressive. The intervention area was subsequently reduced however the proportions 
between Districts remained approximately the same and the total to be provided by the 
Districts was not related to the intervention area but to the agreement with BDUK so no 
adjustment was made to contributions. However it will result in higher levels of delivery over 
the whole programme as set out in 1.7.   

1.6. At the Cabinet meeting held on 3rd April 2012, approval was sought from members to 
recommend to Council that the Memorandum of Understanding be signed in principle subject 
to consideration of points raised by the joint PMP/PDP. These were:

 That value for money must be achieved, and a paper on the funding of the project 
considered – This paper was not produced. However, funding details are set out in this 
report.

 That the funding for the project should be found by the district in the most efficient way 
possible. – Funding from the capital reserve was subsequently approved in the 
2015/16 Capital Budget

 That when entering into any agreement, members should be clear that although the 
target was for 90% of premises to have access to Superfast Broadband, it should be 
established that this service must be available to the actual premises rather than just to 
the street. This requirement was not in the original tender put out to contract, as it was 
not considered to be achievable. However, as the project has progressed, limited fibre 
to the premises is being rolled out. Lincs County Council/BT will not release locations 
due to commercial confidentiality.

 That a map of the district showing the ‘white areas’ be made available to members – 
the map is available as part of the appendix to this report titled ‘Lincolnshire’s 
campaign for faster broadband’

1.7. The following information has been supplied as the latest update for South Holland as at 31 
March 2016:

The element of the Lincolnshire Broadband Programme specific to South Holland delivered a 
substantial improvement in broadband coverage across the District by 31st March 2016. 
While numbers are still being finalised we have confirmation that at least 116 cabinets were 
completed in South Holland which represents 15.20% of the completed cabinets across the 
county to date. This equates to 25,772 additional premises in South Holland that are now 
able to benefit from fibre optic broadband. This figure represents 16.91% of the overall 
project total to date. This means 90.03% of premises in South Holland could receive 
Superfast Broadband by the 31 March 2016

Phase 2:
An additional £4.6M has now been added to the original Phase 2 funds of £4.2M. In addition 
any underspend from Phase 1 will be added to Phase 2 and on that basis, BT are currently 
re-modelling their Phase 2 deployment plan. We hope to see this shortly and subject to final 
agreement, we will then publish details in line with the contractual agreement. It is anticipated 
this will be published before the end of June 2016. In the event of underspend at the end of 
Phase 2 this will be held as an investment fund and has to be used for the further extension 
of Broadband. In the event of any shortfall of funding against the agreed programme there 
would be a requirement to repay BDUK their match funding. 

Page 6



BT has assured us that Phase 2 will start early and finish well before the 31/12/2017 
deadline. Consideration of the implications of this are detailed at 3.4.

1.8 The maps as requested are appended to this report. The reference to 90% mobile coverage 
was an early aspiration. However when the programme evolved with BDUK, there was no 
funding for mobile coverage and it never formed a part of the Framework agreement with BT. 
BDUK did subsequently allocate £150M UK wide to try to make some improvements, but 
sadly that project has delivered virtually nothing to Lincolnshire and has been effectively 
shelved by BDUK. Reference to minimum speeds has now been removed but replaced by 
reference to ‘next generation’ broadband. This is logical as minimum speed is dependent on 
many factors including distance of the cabinet from the exchange, distance of the premises 
from the cabinet, quality of the copper wire from the cabinet to the premises, and a number 
of other factors, all of which can affect the speed obtained at the recipients computer. 

1.9 As set out in 1.4 there was an aspiration to provide the anticipated 10% of properties who 
were not provided with Superfast/Next Generation Broadband with access to speeds of at 
least 2mbps. The Government has determined that this commitment should be met through a 
satellite voucher scheme which has been implemented.

1.10 A joint meeting of the Policy Development Panel and Policy Monitoring Panel was held on 26 
April 2016 and received a report on Broadband provision in South Holland and had the 
opportunity to review the issue in detail including questioning the Steve Brookes Lincolnshire 
Broadband Programme Manager. They have recommended to Cabinet that payment be 
made of the agreed contribution in view of the achievement of the agreed performance level.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Release the sum of £606,910 as requested for the South Holland contribution to the 
Superfast Broadband rollout.

2.2 Decline to contribute. (Do nothing).

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 The programme has substantially completed  with 90.03% of the total premises completed by 
the end of 2015 compared to a target of 90%.  Delivery in South Holland has as far as can be 
ascertained equalled or exceeded that in other Districts with the exception of East Lindsey.

3.2 Given the far higher cost of providing Superfast Broadband to the premises and the 
organisation of the Broadband market it was never likely to be possible for this programme to 
primarily provide Broadband to the premises. However it is positive that some element of 
Broadband to the premises has been provided. The extent has not been disclosed. It is 
understandable that the location and customers are commercially confidential. We have 
received assurance that the numbers can be made available after the end of Phase 1 of the 
programme but final numbers are still awaited from BT.

3.3 Detailed data on speed to premises would be affected by the wide range of variables that 
effect speed from Cabinet to premises, but superfast fibre broadband has been installed as 
detailed elsewhere in this report. 

3.4 There is significant underspend on the current programme which will allow additional 
investment in Phase 2. This has resulted in a very substantial 2nd Phase of the programme 
which will substantially exceed £9m designed to deliver before 31/12/2017. This second 
phase will include the programme currently being developed by BT. However the options of 
including Fibre to the remote node and Superfast Broadband using wireless are under active 

Page 7



consideration. The former involves using a node that serves a much smaller number of 
premises (16) than is usual for Cabinets and is therefore appropriate for much smaller 
clusters of dwellings. The Government has recently approved two wireless systems for 
provision of next generation access. This approval process has taken far longer than 
anticipated and has prevented deployment of this solution previously. Given these 
developments Phase 2 offers particular opportunities for improving South Holland’s 
broadband infrastructure given the rural and isolated nature of many dwellings. It is 
considered important that the Council is seen to support the programme overall and not to 
potentially prejudice deployment in our area nor to create a risk of repayment to BDUK of the 
match funding already provided against the promised contributions

3.5 As the programme has delivered its primary target and there is potentially substantial further 
investment into the broadband infrastructure for South Holland it is proposed that the 
contribution from South Holland be made.    

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The availability of Superfast Broadband is vital to the wellbeing of both the economy and the 
residents of South Holland. Businesses need to be able to access the internet at high speed 
for a number of reasons. Amongst those reasons is the fact that many companies now trade 
online so access to and from their website, including the e-commerce side, is vital. Many 
websites change content on a regular basis, even in real time, and this needs to be a 
seamless operation.

 
4.2 Many businesses now use cloud services to store and back up information, as well as 

increasingly turning to online software applications such as Microsoft Office 365.

4.3 Superfast Broadband is also vital for residents, increasingly services, including those 
involving the District Council, will be provided online. In fact there is now a school of thought 
that says that the provision of Superfast Broadband should be considered a basic human 
right along with basic utilities like water and electricity.  It is a fact that when advertising 
houses and commercial premises for sale, the availability and speed of broadband is an 
important factor for consideration.

4.4 A substantial area of the District will not receive coverage through commercial means. This 
programme will therefore provide advantage to the district as a whole by enabling the 
availability of Superfast Broadband more consistently particularly in the rural areas.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 Provision of Superfast Broadband has the potential to reduce travel through the use of video-
conferencing and similar applications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 This is an executive function and the decision therefore rests with the Cabinet. The Council 
has statutory power to contribute to this project, including its general powers of competence 
under s1 Localism Act 2011. At present no formal agreement has been entered into which 
sets the terms of the £606,910 contribution. Suitable contractual arrangements will be 
possible once the decision has been made.

Page 8



5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 There is currently a memorandum of understanding between the parties, but no formal 
contract setting out the terms of the Council’s contribution. If the recommendations in this 
report are approved, the Chief Executive will agree the terms of the contract (taking advice 
as necessary) and issue a purchase order before any contribution is actioned.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 A contribution to the rollout of Superfast Broadband in South Holland would align with the 
Corporate priorities of:
 To develop safer, stronger, healthier and more independent communities, whilst 

protecting the most vulnerable.
 To provide the right services, at the right time, and in the right way.
 To encourage the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth

5.5 Financial

5.5.1 On the 25th February 2015 council approved a capital project for Broadband Lincolnshire at a 
cost of £607,000

5.5.2 Financing for this project was approved at £607,000 of Direct Revenue Contributions to be 
transferred from the Capital Reserve.  

5.5.3 The 2015/16 estimate for the capital programme as reported to cabinet on the 16th February 
2016 includes £607,000 for this project and funding from the capital reserve has been 
earmarked accordingly. Progress on installations will be measured at the end of March 2016 
and the negotiated contractual contribution will reported as part of the 2015/16 out turn on 
this basis 

5.5.4 Current progress includes 25,612 (94% of target) premises in the district that are likely to 
benefit from a connection to fibre optic broadband. The revised target figure for March 2016 
was 90% of 30,124 premises (27,112) 

5.5.5 Phase 2 of the project will increase the number of premises in the district benefitting from 
fibre optic broadband to 28,618 (95% of 30,124 premises).

5.5.6 Phase 2 funding of £8.8m+ will be managed by Lincolnshire County Council and no further 
contributions are required from the Council. Any underspend in Phase 1 of the project will be 
carried forward as additional funding for phase 2 which is planned to be completed by the 
end of 2017. 

5.5.7 Project finances  & performance targets will be examined at the end of Phase 2 by all 
partners to the original Memorandum of Understanding

5.6 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.6.1 Lincolnshire County Council is a key stakeholder and failure to pay the sum agreed       in 
principle would impact on the relationship. There is also the potential impact on relationships 
with the other districts in Lincolnshire who have signed up and are contributing the figures as 
agreed in the MOU. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All Wards in the district

Page 9



7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 FTTP – Fibre to the Premises
7.2 FTTC – Fibre to the Cabinet
7.3 FTTRN – Fibre to the remote node
7.4 ISP – Internet Service Provider
7.5 BDUK – Broadband UK
7.6 BT – British Telecom
7.7 SHDC – South Holland District Council

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Tim Mills Executive Manager (Growth)
01775 761161
Tim.Mills@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Yes 

Exempt Decision:  No 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A – SFB Lincolnshire June 2013
Appendix B – Lincolnshire’s campaign for faster broadband
Appendix C – 21st March 2012 Joint PMP and PDP
Appendix D – 26th April 2016 Joint PMP and PDP
Appendix E – Broadband FAQ’s

Page 10



Bringing
Superfast broadband

to Lincolnshire

LCC280_on_lincolnshire_brochure.indd   1 10/06/2013   10:37

APPENDIX A

Page 11



Bringing
Superfast broadband

to Lincolnshire

LCC280_on_lincolnshire_brochure.indd   2 10/06/2013   10:37

Page 12



The internet is transforming our lives – at home, at work and at school.

Whether it’s catching up with your favourite TV show, getting help with your homework or buying new clothes, 
the internet is quickly becoming the first port of call.   

But many parts of Lincolnshire are still missing out on all that digital technology has to offer because of poor 
broadband speeds.

Thankfully, that’s all about to change. 

Led by the county council, the onlincolnshire project aims to build on the existing telecoms infrastructure in the 
county so that by April 2016 at least 88 per cent of all county properties should have access to superfast 
broadband, with everyone else being able to get a minimum of 2Mb/s basic broadband as standard. For the first 
time ever, broadband should be available everywhere in Lincolnshire. To find out initial information on what’s 
planned in your area, visit www.onlincolnshire.org and type in your post code. Please be aware all details may 
be subject to change.

The improvements will be carried out by the council’s private sector partner BT, and will see around £48m of 
public and private sector money invested in improving the county’s broadband infrastructure. The cash includes 
£11.2m from the county council, £4m from the district authorities, £14.3m from national government and 
£18.8m from BT.

In addition, £300,000 from the European Regional Development Fund will be used to bring faster speeds 
sooner to east coast communities in and around Ingoldmells and Wrangle through wireless technology, with the 
improvements being carried out by Lincoln firm AB Internet. A further £1.6 million has been approved by ERDF 
to make further improvements for eligible SMEs.

Superfast broadband will bring a wealth of new opportunities for residents and businesses alike. People will be 
able to stream HD movies, download music in seconds, play online games and keep in touch with friends and 
family via video calls. Businesses will enjoy improved efficiency, better connections with customers and exposure 
to an expanding global market.

And the onlincolnshire team will be here to help. Check out our website for the latest broadband news, info on 
upcoming events and useful tips on how to get the most out of digital technology.

Welcome to life in the superfast lane.

LCC280_on_lincolnshire_brochure.indd   3 10/06/2013   10:37

Page 13



Your guide to 

What are superfast broadband and basic 
broadband?

Superfast broadband refers to speeds of 24 Mb/s and 
above. That’s over two and a half times quicker than 
the current UK average of 9Mb/s. Basic 
broadband refers to speeds of a minimum of 2 Mb/s.

Why do I want superfast broadband? What are 
the benefits?

People will be able to stream HD movies, download 
music in seconds, play online games, interact with 
businesses and keep in touch with friends and family 
via video calls. Businesses will enjoy improved 
efficiency, better connections with customers and 
exposure to an expanding global market. The 
possibilities are endless. 

Where will superfast broadband be available?

By April 2016 at least 88 per cent of all county 
properties should have access to superfast broadband, 
with everyone else being able to get a minimum of 
2Mb/s basic broadband as standard. For the first time 
ever, broadband should be available everywhere in 
Lincolnshire. To find out initial information on what’s 
planned for your area, visit www.onlincolnshire.org 
and type in your post code. Alternatively, call the 
council’s customer service centre on 01522 782066. 
Please be aware all details may be subject to change.

Superfast broadband isn’t coming to my area – 
is there anything I can do?

There may be national funding for self-help schemes 
that communities can apply for.  If this is something 
your community would like to explore, please 
contact the onlincolnshire team at 
onlincolnshire@lincolnshire.gov.uk for further advice.

Why won’t everyone have access to superfast 
broadband? Why is superfast broadband not 
going to be available in my area?

Unfortunately, the money available for the 
improvements is not enough to fund 100 per cent 
superfast coverage. This is due in part to the fact that 
the costs rise significantly in bringing superfast 
broadband to the hardest to reach areas. However, 
technology continues to improve so opportunities 
should arise in the future for getting everyone to 
superfast speeds.

When will superfast broadband be available in 
my area?

The whole programme should be completed by April 
2016. Work is taking place in several phases, and 
we will keep you regularly updated. You can find out 
when improvements are happening in your area by 
going to www.onlincolnshire.org and typing in your 
post code.

Why are other areas getting superfast 
broadband before mine? Who decides where 
and when superfast broadband is made 
available?

The roll out takes into account many factors, including 
local demographics and geography, planning require-
ments, the existing engineering infrastructure and the 
availability of suitable technologies to provide a ser-
vice. It’s not possible with a programme of this size to 
plan every area at the same time so some areas will 
be planned and then enabled before others.  

Superfast broadband

LCC280_on_lincolnshire_brochure.indd   4 10/06/2013   10:37

Page 14



Will I have to sign up for a new broadband 
service? How much extra will this cost?

To benefit from superfast broadband you will need to 
sign up with an Internet Service Provider. Prices are 
set by the providers and the services offered will vary 
so it’s a good idea to shop around.

Will I have to sign up to BT’s broadband 
service?

No, BT’s network is open which means you will be 
able to use any Internet Service Provider that is active 
in your area.

Why isn’t my existing Internet Service Provider 
offering superfast broadband? Is there anything 
I can do about this?

Once the infrastructure has been upgraded, the 
decision whether or not to offer a superfast package 
rests entirely with the Internet Service Provider. If 
you have any issues with the packages they offer, you 
should contact them directly.

Will I actually get the superfast speed 
advertised? Will it be reliable?

Industry-standard tests will ensure the improvements 
meet the requirements. We will also be asking 
local broadband ‘champions’ to test the speed of the 
new connections in some areas. The exact speed 
you receive will depend on a range of factors, such 
as who your Internet Service Provider is, your home 
wiring and computer, and how many people are using 
the service in your area.

How much money is being spent on this 
project? Where is it coming from?

Around £48m of public and private sector money is 
being invested in improving the county’s broadband 
infrastructure. The cash includes £11.2m from the 
county council, £4m from the district authorities, 
£14.3m from national government and £18.8m from 
BT.

Is this money being spent all over the county?

Work is concentrated in an ‘intervention area’ of over 
150,000 premises. That’s half the premises in 
Lincolnshire. Although work will take place all over 
the county, the intervention area is predominantly 
rural. Public money is not being spent on any areas 
where a commercial supplier has planned to upgrade 
services to superfast in the next three years. 

LCC280_on_lincolnshire_brochure.indd   5 10/06/2013   10:37

Page 15



Superfast broadband

Basic broadband

Limited or no broadband coverage

Lincoln

Grantham

Sleaford
Boston

Bourne

Gainsborough Louth

Skegness

Stamford

Horncastle

Spalding

Spilsby

Holbeach

Wragby

Broadband in
Lincolnshire

Broadband in Lincolnshire today 
The map below shows broadband coverage across Lincolnshire today
(accurate as of June 2013).

LCC280_on_lincolnshire_brochure.indd   6 10/06/2013   10:37

Page 16



Superfast broadband

Basic broadband

Limited or no broadband coverage

Lincoln

Grantham

Sleaford
Boston

Bourne

Gainsborough Louth

Skegness

Stamford

Horncastle

Spalding

Spilsby

Holbeach

Wragby

Broadband in Lincolnshire 2016 
The map below shows what broadband coverage across Lincolnshire will look 
like after April 2016 (based on county council projections).

LCC280_on_lincolnshire_brochure.indd   7 10/06/2013   10:37

Page 17



When will
improvements happen

in my area?

Work will take place in different parts of the county simultaneously. The project is split into eight phases. 
The maps on the following pages show where improvements will happen during each of these phases. The 
dates given relate to the start of physical work. These are the county council’s estimated dates and may vary 
depending on conditions on the ground. 

Phase 1  Oct / Nov 2013 Phase 2  Jan / Feb 2014

Phase 4  Jul / Aug 2014Phase 3  Apr / May 2014

LCC280_on_lincolnshire_brochure.indd   8 10/06/2013   10:38

Page 18



Phase 6  Jan / Feb 2015Phase 5  Oct / Nov 2014

Phase 8  Sept / Oct 2015Phase 7  Apr / May 2015

The first superfast connections are expected to be available in January 2014. These maps are 
available to view in more detail at www.onlincolnshire.org.

LCC280_on_lincolnshire_brochure.indd   9 10/06/2013   10:38

Page 19



Wireless
Technology

Pilot

In addition to the improvements being made to the 
county’s broadband infrastructure, a Lincolnshire 
company is helping the county council bring the
latest broadband technology to two rural parts of the 
county.

Lincolnshire firm AB Internet has been selected after 
an open competition to bring faster 
broadband sooner to two areas on the east coast. 
They will use fixed wireless technology to improve 
the current broadband offering to a level that is over 
twice the current national average.

Ths pilot project will make sure these rural 
areas aren’t left behind as we progress through the 
digital age.

Which areas will benefit from the pilot?

The areas to benefit are:

Area 1   Ingoldmells, Chapel St Leonards and 
   Willoughby with Sloothby
Area 2   Old Leake and Wrangle, Frithville, 
   Stickney and Sibsey 

What speeds will be available and how much will 
I have to pay?

AB Internet will offer customers a range of 
packages, from a cost-conscious 2Mb/s through to a 
faster 50Mb/s internet service. This means 
customers can choose the one that best fits their 
individual needs. Details of AB Internet’s packages and 
costs are available from their website 
http://wireless.abinternet.co.uk  or calling 
01522 821111 or writing to AB Internet Ltd, The 
Upper Lodge, 62 Sewell Road, Lincoln LN2 5QX.

When will faster speeds will be available?

The improvements should be complete by autumn 
2013.

Will I have to use AB Internet’s services?

If you want to use the fixed wireless service, you will 
need to sign-up with AB Internet. However, other 
Internet Service Providers will offer broadband in 
your area using the existing infrastructure.

Who is paying for it and what does it cost?

The total cost is £300,000, paid for by the 
European Regional Development Fund (ERDF).  The 
money secured from the ERDF can only be spent on 
broadband in parts of East Lindsey and Boston.

LCC280_on_lincolnshire_brochure.indd   10 10/06/2013   10:38

Page 20



Areas covered by the wireless technology pilot

LCC280_on_lincolnshire_brochure.indd   11 10/06/2013   10:38

Page 21



Follow us on Twitter @onlincolnshire
Follow us on Facebook www.facebook.com/onlincolnshire

www.onlincolnshire.org

LCC280_on_lincolnshire_brochure.indd   12 10/06/2013   10:38

Page 22



APPENDIX B

A

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C
- 254 -

Minutes of a special joint meeting of the PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory 
Road, Spalding on Wednesday 21 March 2012.

PRESENT

Councillors:

B Alcock M Howard M D Seymour
G R Aley J King E Sneath
D Ashby A Miller D A Tennant
F Biggadike R Perkins D J Wilkinson
C J T H Brewis A Puttick S Wilkinson
A Casson R M Rudkin A R Woolf
A Harrison

Officers:  The Assistant Director (Democratic Services), the Economic Development 
Officer and the Principal Member Services Officer.

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors M D Booth, S M Booth, R Clark, A 
M Newton and S Slade.  

388. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN FOR THE DURATION OF THE JOINT MEETING

Consideration was given as to who should preside over the special joint meeting of the 
Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel.

DECISION: That Councillor A Puttick act as Chairman for the duration of 
the special joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel 
and the Policy Development Panel.

389. LINCOLNSHIRE SUPERFAST BROADBAND PROJECT

Consideration was given to the report of the Economic Development Manager which 
informed members of a request for a financial contribution to the Lincolnshire County 
Council (LCC) Superfast Broadband project.  A presentation was also received from David 
O’Connor (Executive Director – Performance and Governance) and Judith Hetherington 
Smith (Chief Information Officer) from Lincolnshire County Council which provided 
members with current information on the project.  

As part of the comprehensive spending review, the Government had announced its vision 
for the UK to have the best superfast broadband network in Europe by 2015.  The first part 
of this vision was that at least 90% of UK premises would have superfast broadband and 
remaining premises would have a minimum of 2Mbps, and to that end had committed 
£530million to support the rollout of superfast broadband by Broadband Delivery UK 
(BDUK). 

On 8 July 2011, LCC agreed in principle to provide £10million match funding for the 
Lincolnshire Broadband Delivery Plan to BDUK.  In August 2011, the Government 
announced their national funding allocations which included £14.3million for Lincolnshire.  
The District Councils were being asked for a contribution to make up the shortfall of 
£4million (the difference between the £10million committed by LCC, £300,000 from ERDF 
and the £14.3million from BDUK).  Page 27



- 255 -

Special joint meeting of the PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 21 March 2012 

389. LINCOLNSHIRE SUPERFAST BROADBAND PROJECT (Continued)

A commitment to match fund the national allocation was required by BDUK.  Their model 
predicted that public investment of £28.6million, together with private investment, would 
achieve the national target.  So far, £10million of funding had been secured from LCC 
together with £300,000 of European funding (ERDF).  Three potential sources were being 
pursued to fund the £4million gap – NHS/United Lincolnshire Hospitals Trust, District 
Councils and ERDF.  Recent discussions suggested that a further £1.3million - £1.6million 
could be available from ERDF.  If a bid for extra funding was successful and could be 
spent by 2015, the requirement from local sources would fall to around £2.7million - 
£3million, however it would be some months before this could be confirmed.

Areas of market failure, classed as ‘white areas’ for the purposes of State Aid, were 
eligible for investment.  A potential equitable split by district could be the proportion of 
premises in each white area.  The latest figures from BDUK in October 2011 showed that 
there were 198,540 white area premises in Lincolnshire of which 30,124 (15.2%) were in 
South Holland.  Thus the maximum contribution from South Holland to secure the BDUK 
2015 target would be £606,910 and the minimum would be £409,670.  Draw down of 
funds could be phased between 2013 and 2015.

Following the presentation, members raised the following issues which were answered by 
the officers from LCC.

 Would it make any difference if areas had cabling that was overhead rather than 
underground?
o No, it would not make a difference to the provision to properties.  It was up to the 

supplier how to provide the superfast broadband.  The programme’s role was to 
specify outcomes, not the way in which these were met (i.e. the technology).

 How many of the white area premises within South Holland were businesses?
o The officers did not have these figures with them, but would provide the information 

to members the next day.

 A number of places within the area were close to large town/cities outside of the South 
Holland area (e.g. Peterborough, Kings Lynn).  Could work be undertaken with them, 
even if they were out of the area?
o Yes, it would be possible to patch into national infrastructures.  Procurement could 

be undertaken across geographical boundaries.

 How could outcomes be measured and was there any redress if they were not 
achieved?
o A range of outcomes were specified in the Local Broadband Plan to which SHDC 

had contributed.  Outcomes could be tested and measured e.g. the number of older 
people using technology, as well as measuring the speed delivered to sample 
premises.  

 When the work had been undertaken, what guarantees would there be that the 
technology would be robust and would last?
o The pre-qualification process was being managed by BDUK in establishing the 

framework agreement that local authorities would procure from, and the providers 
would all be multi-national companies.    Page 28



- 256 -

Special joint meeting of the PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 21 March 2012 

389. LINCOLNSHIRE SUPERFAST BROADBAND PROJECT (Continued)

 Members had been advised that BT already had plans to upgrade the Spalding 
exchange to superfast broadband towards the end of 2012, and Holbeach sometime in 
2012 (these two exchanges covered a large proportion of South Holland).  Would these 
upgrades still be taking place if the project went ahead?
o The latest plans of suppliers would affect white areas and so the amounts from 

contributors; these would be made available during the procurement process.

 If the District did not contribute to the project, would it fail?
o No, the County project was not dependant on all districts contributing and if the 

District did not contribute, it would not mean that the project would fail.  However, 
the District did need to be aware that if it did not contribute, it would not have a 
voice in the governance and procurement, so specific local needs may not be met.  
It would also not benefit from the additional benefits of any further funding brought 
in.  Members were advised however that contributions from authorities would not be 
determined until the procurement stage.

 What was the percentage of the South Holland area receiving less than 2Mbps.
o The officers did not have these figures with them, but would provide the information 

to members the next day.

 In the past, the main issue in the area with regard to faster connection speeds had 
been the old copper wire technology from the exchange to the premises.  Would this 
still be an issue?
o Until the procurement had been undertaken, it would not be clear how many 

properties would be able to receive super fast broadband speeds.  90% was the 
minimum target.  The project would make investment in this area more affordable 
than previously, and therefore more viable, but it would not solve all issues.

Members were advised they would be contracted with answers to issues raised above that 
could not be addressed in the meeting.

The Panel thanked David O’Connor and Judith Hetherington Smith for the presentation 
and for attending the meeting.

DECISION: (a) That in principal, the joint Panel support the proposal, as 
it would attract businesses to the area; and

(b) That when the Cabinet considered the proposals, that it 
also consider the following points raised by the joint 
Panel:

(i) That Value for Money must be achieved, and a 
paper on the funding of the project considered;

(ii) That the funding for the project should be found by 
the District in the most efficient way possible; and

Page 29



- 257 -

Special joint meeting of the PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND POLICY 
DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 21 March 2012 

389. LINCOLNSHIRE SUPERFAST BROADBAND PROJECT (Continued)

(iii) That when entering into any agreement, members 
should be clear that although the target was for 
90% of premises to have super fast broadband, it 
should be established that this service must be 
available to the actual premises themselves rather 
than just to the cabinet. 

(Meeting ended at 7.25 pm.)

(End of Minutes.)

Page 30



APPENDIX D

Minutes of a meeting of the JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 26 April 2016 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

B Alcock (Chairman)

G R Aley
D Ashby
J R Astill
M D Booth
T A Carter
R Clark

G K Dark
H Drury
L J Eldridge
P C Foyster
R Grocock
A Harrison

J L King
J D McLean
M J Pullen
M D Seymour
A C Tennant
A R Woolf

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors C J T H Brewis, 
A M Newton and J L Reynolds.

In Attendance:  The Interim Executive Manager Growth, the Democratic Services 
Officer, the Lincolnshire Broadband Programme Manager and the Lincolnshire 
Broadband Project Support Officer.

Action By
15. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 

Consideration was given as to who should preside over the joint 
meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy 
Development Panel.  

AGREED:

That Councillor B Alcock act as Chairman for the duration of the 
joint meeting of the Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy 
Development Panel.   
 

16. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

There were none. 

17. SUPERFAST BROADBAND CONTRIBUTION BY SHDC 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation, which asked the joint Panel to consider South 
Holland District Council’s contribution to the roll out of Superfast 
Broadband across South Holland.

The Executive Manager Growth and Prosperity provided the joint 
Panel with an update on the history of the issue, as detailed within 

Page 31



the report.  He also advised that the target to bring superfast 
broadband to 90% of the County (a minimum of 2Mbps to UK 
premises) by 2015 had been met (this had only been confirmed 
within the last few days and was therefore not reflected within the 
report).

The Lincolnshire Broadband Programme Manager outlined the 
government imposed solution for premises with less than 2Mbps 
(although he did question the effectiveness of this solution).  The 
premises owner could apply for a subsidised satellite solution – 
they would be provided with a voucher which could then be used 
with any of seven providers.  If this opportunity was taken up, it 
would not preclude them from any possible upgrades when Phase 
2 of the project was implemented. 

The following issues were raised:

 There were some anomalies with regard to the speed 
available at some properties in that although less than 2Mbps 
was being achieved, the provider’s records showed that a 
higher than 2Mbps speed was available.  

o The Lincolnshire Broadband Programme Manager 
advised that even if BT was not the provider, BT’s 
lines were still used and therefore the speed 
achieved could only ever be what the line was 
capable of, and no more.  A snapshot of speed tests 
should be sent through to the Programme Manager 
to investigate.  It was suggested that this could be 
an issue for a number of people and therefore 
information on this should be provided on the 
website.

 Within some settlements, some properties were achieving 
over 2Mbps speed, whilst others received sub 2Mbps.  Would 
the subsidised satellite solution be the only way to improve 
speeds?

o Currently this was the only option.  However, Phase 
2 could provide an upgrade for properties receiving 
sub 2Mbps speed.  The satellite solution could still 
be taken up even if the property was due for an 
upgrade in Phase 2.

 When the original presentation had been given to the joint 
Panel in 2012, concern had been raised with regard to delivery 
of service to premises.  The Panel had requested that it be 
established that the service must be available to the actual 
premises, rather than just to the cabinet in the street.  
Improvements had been seen however, there were still 
concerns regarding a sizeable number of people who were not 
able to receive speeds of 2Mbps and over.

Page 32



o Superfast broadband had been delivered to 30,000 
premises, 90% of the County, and there had been a 
real increase in service.  Phase 2 of the project 
would be trying to address areas where there were 
any issues.  There were issues affecting service, 
one of them being the standard of BT’s 
infrastructure (which would possibly not change), 
and also internal issues with some people’s 
equipment.  Superfast broadband direct to 
properties rather than boxes was the ideal however, 
the cost to provide this would have been too high.  

 Who should people contact if they were receiving greater than 
2Mbps but a lower speed than providers said they should be 
receiving?

o Firstly, they should contact their provider, then BT 
and then finally OFCOM.  Some of the issues could 
be as a result of BT’s infrastructure.

 With regard to the Authority providing monies towards the 
upgrade, it appeared that BT would have been undertaking 
improvement works in some settlements anyway, irrespective 
of the superfast broadband project.  Surely therefore, the 
project should have cost less?

o The cost would not have been less as the 
opportunity had been taken to undertake more work 
instead in other settlements.  The more 
improvements that BT had undertaken, the more 
opportunity it had given to the project to make more 
improvements than originally anticipated.        

 Would the superfast broadband project have been able to 
deliver its 90% target without the work undertaken by BT?  If 
not, then the Panel would have been right in being sceptical.

o No, the target could not have been achieved without 
BT’s additional work.

 The report stated at 5.3.1 that there was currently a 
memorandum of understanding between the parties, but no 
formal contract setting out the terms of the Council’s 
contribution.  Should this be a concern, and could the figures 
alter?

o No, the figures would not change, they were based 
on amounts detailed within the original agreement in 
November 2011.  There had been an underspend, 
any monies left over would be spent in Phase 2 and 
no further monies could be requested.

 What contract was the Authority getting involved in?
o A letter had been sent regarding the agreed 

Page 33



contribution towards Phase 1, and this outlined the 
aspirations of the project.  It had been signed to 
agree the contribution, and there was some 
flexibility as to when this would be paid.

 Why was the Authority paying the original amount if there had 
been a clawback from BT?

o The Phase 1 spend had been written in stone.  Any 
monies not spent had to be payed back therefore 
they were being used towards broadband 
infrastructure.

 What would happen if there was a Phase 2 underspend?
o The money would have to continue to be spent until 

it was used up, or it could be held until better 
technology became available.

 If members agreed to the amount to be paid, was there an 
opportunity for more monies to be asked for or was there any 
liability for clawback?

o This would be the last amount to be asked for, and 
there would be no liability at all.  Delivery of Phase 2 
and Phase 3 would then progress.  The aspiration 
was to achieve 100% coverage, or at a minimum, 
98%.

 The report stated at 1.6 that value for money must be 
achieved, and a paper on the funding of the project considered 
– this paper was not produced however, funding details were 
set out in the report.  Why had the paper not been produced?

o Officers were not aware why the paper had not been 
produced however, they had tried to look at the 
value for money issue.

AGREED:

a) That the proposed recommendations to Cabinet detailed 
within the report, in respect of contributions to Lincolnshire 
County Council towards the roll out of Superfast Broadband in 
the District; to delegate authority to the Chief Executive in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Commercialisation to 
negotiate contractual terms with Lincolnshire County Council 
and other authorities in Greater Lincolnshire; and to delegate 
authority to the Chief Executive in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Commercialisation to agree and release a 
final payment,  be agreed; and

b) That prior to the report’s submission to Cabinet, that the report 
and the recommendations reflect that the performance target 
of providing superfast broadband to at least 90% of properties 

TM 

TM 

Page 34



within Lincolnshire had now been met. 

18. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
          URGENT 

There were none. 

(The meeting ended at 7.35 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E

Lincolnshire Superfast Broadband FAQs
January 2012

This is a major opportunity for Lincolnshire’s economy and should see 
investment of around £57 million private and public sector money from 
now to the end of 2015.

These FAQs are based on queries asked by District Council colleagues at 
various times over the last few months.  We are meeting BDUK on 6 February 
who will need assurance that all funding is in place and that we will use their 
procurement framework.

1 What is the programme seeking to achieve?

 Superfast broadband (24-30 mbps) for 90% of premises in the county and 
2mbps to the remaining 10% by the end of 2015.

 Universal superfast broadband across Lincolnshire by the end of 2017.
 Significant improvements in mobile telephony over the same period.

BDUK’s model predicts that £28.6m of public investment matched by the 
same amount of private investment will achieve the 2015 target.  That makes 
a total project cost of around £57m.

2 Could we be more ambitious?

We have worked closely with Analysys Mason, one of Europe’s leading 
telecommunications consultancies, in developing the bid and approach so far.  
A more ambitious target in Lincolnshire would have been unaffordable.

3 How will it happen?

There are three main projects in this programme:

Project 1 - (300k from ERDF) funding for technology pilots in East Lindsey 
and Boston  

Project 2 - Community schemes for individuals or groups of companies, using 
Community Lincs act as facilitators, and to broker access to Defra’s Rural 
Community Broadband Fund or other relevant funding sources.

Project 3 – procuring a strategic solution to achieve the national targets in 
areas not met by Projects 1 and 2.

Page 37



4 When will we see a difference?

The £300k ERDF funding allocated to Project 1 must be committed by 31 
March this year and work is already underway with East Lindsey and Boston 
around that.

Project 2 details at www.onlincolnshire.org – see 
http://www.onlincolnshire.org/How-we-can-help/Communities/Self-Help-
Guides

The main strategic solution in Project 3 is planned on the basis of procuring in 
2012 and rolling out in 2013-15.  That is an ambitious timetable for what is the 
fifth largest programme in the country but one we are aiming to achieve.

5 What money is in place?

Work with Analysys Mason has identified that it will cost around £57 million to 
meet the programme’s targets.  About half of that will come from the private 
sector.

£14.3 million has been secured in principle from BDUK.  This must be match 
funded through:

 £10 million from LCC
 £300k ERDF PA2 funding (we are seeking more) currently limited to 

Project 2
 Balance of up to £4 million from Districts (less depending on extra external 

funding gained)

The county council has set aside significant funding for managing the 
procurement and external advice and does not intend using any of the above 
for that purpose.

6 How has the match funding request been calculated?

Each District has been asked to contribute based on their proportion of 
premises in White Areas.  That was the best and fairest way we could think of 
doing it.  A range has been proposed as the gap will reduce if we secure more 
external funding.  The county council has committed to keeping our 
contribution at £10 million so all the benefits of additional funding up to £4 
million will go towards reducing Districts’ match funding contributions.

Page 38

http://www.onlincolnshire.org/
http://www.onlincolnshire.org/How-we-can-help/Communities/Self-Help-Guides
http://www.onlincolnshire.org/How-we-can-help/Communities/Self-Help-Guides


7 What benefit will we get for our investment? 

Because the match funding is calculated on % White Area1 premises, you 
should get the same benefit from the whole programme. 

As a simple example, we would expect a District with 10% White Areas to be 
asked for between £400k and £270k contribution but to benefit from around 
£5.7m million total investment. 

8 What if a District does not contribute?

They will not have a voice in the governance and procurement so specific 
local needs may not be met. 

9 How can local businesses benefit?

Local technology firms will be able to bid for work under Projects 1 and 2.  It is 
unlikely that any local technology firm would be able to bid for Project 3 
because companies on the framework will have their own technology 
suppliers but we anticipate construction work might be sub-contracted locally. 

10 How can I support my local communities to access DEFRA 
Rural Broadband funding

Project 2 is using Community Lincs to broker this.  You can help your 
communities by encouraging them to take part in that work.  Further 
information is at www.onlincolnshire.org

11 How can Districts be involved in governance?

Districts currently have two ICT reps on the Lincolnshire Broadband 
Partnership.   This can be modified if requested.

We suggest that lead Members from each Council meet regularly with the 
LCC lead Members on this (Cllrs Eddy Poll, Kelly Smith and Richard Davies) 
to build on political meetings held in the last few months.

12 Who decides who goes first and how will they do that?

Project 1 only applies to East Lindsey and Boston as it is ERDF funding and is 
currently underway.

1 See FAQ on White and Grey Areas for State Aid on page 4

Page 39

http://www.onlincolnshire.org/


Project 2 will depend on a combination of where communities come forward 
for support, and efforts to target communities with the poorest connectivity. 
Some districts are already helping to promote community self-help.

For Project 3, timing for each area will emerge from the procurement.  

13 How will the procurement operate?

Our BDUK bid said we would decide between using the BDUK framework and 
doing a local procurement.

Soft market testing before Christmas showed there is likely to be little take-up 
in a local procurement so it is most likely we will go through the BDUK 
national framework promised for April. The Framework route will be shorter so 
roll out will commence more quickly than doing a local procurement. BDUK 
are pushing for all projects to use their framework and will want an answer on 
6 February.

14 Could an individual property miss out?

If an individual property currently receives 2mbps and ends up in the ‘final 
10%’ it will not receive additional service.  But if it is in the 90% it will receive 
the superfast service.  Don’t forget we are aiming for universal superfast 
coverage by 2017.

15 When will we know the rollout for each District?

That will emerge from procurement and depend on private sector investment 
plans and priorities, the relative costs of different roll out plans and other 
factors.

16 Isn’t this just a tax on rural communities?

These projects involve state aid because the superfast broadband markets 
are failing in Lincolnshire.

17 What are White / Grey Areas for State Aid?

These areas qualify for State Aid.  Black Areas do not. 

White areas – are where there is currently no service to the planned 
investment level (i.e. either 2mbps for 10% and superfast for 90%) and 
suppliers have confirmed that they have no plans to invest in those areas in 
the next three years.

An area will be classified as grey if one operator has deployed or plans to 
deploy a network in the next three years so that either the 10% or 90% target 

Page 40



speed is available. However, it can still be possible to argue that state 
investment can be made by demonstrating that:

 the existing or planned NGA2 network is not or would not be sufficient 
to satisfy the needs of individual and business users; and 

 there are no less distortive means (e.g. ex ante regulation) to achieve 
the required goals of the proposed State intervention

An example of the first point would be that the supplier did not have the 
capacity to provide a service to every premise in the area, and/or that the cost 
was not affordable, and/or that the user had no choice of retail (ISP) service

For further information see: 
https://www.eversheds.com/uk/home/articles/index1.page?ArticleID=template
data%5CEversheds%5Carticles%5Cdata%5Cen%5CLocal_government%5C
State_Aid_and_Public_Funding_for_Next_Generation_Access

18 What if my council’s local investment or investment by a 
local supplier turns a ‘White Area’ to ‘Grey’ for State Aid?

This is complicated.  State Aid is possible in Grey Areas but takes much more 
work and cost.  Because State Aid work must precede procurement, it would 
delay the procurement and benefits to the wider Lincolnshire community 
whilst adding to the bill.

19 Won’t we all have to do the same again in a few years as 
technology develops?

That would be a risk if we spent the funding on a lot of very local solutions.  
Project 3 is aiming to procure a strategic solution for the county that is 
sustainable because the market will have grown.  Within the county council 
we are aiming to use that solution for our own Wide Area Network in seven 
years once the contract with empsn3 expires.

2 Next Generation Access
3 East Midlands Public Sector Network

Page 41

https://www.eversheds.com/uk/home/articles/index1.page?ArticleID=templatedata%5CEversheds%5Carticles%5Cdata%5Cen%5CLocal_government%5CState_Aid_and_Public_Funding_for_Next_Generation_Access
https://www.eversheds.com/uk/home/articles/index1.page?ArticleID=templatedata%5CEversheds%5Carticles%5Cdata%5Cen%5CLocal_government%5CState_Aid_and_Public_Funding_for_Next_Generation_Access
https://www.eversheds.com/uk/home/articles/index1.page?ArticleID=templatedata%5CEversheds%5Carticles%5Cdata%5Cen%5CLocal_government%5CState_Aid_and_Public_Funding_for_Next_Generation_Access


This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: The Deputy Leaders of South Holland District Council and the Executive 
Director Commercialisation (S151)

To: Cabinet - 12 July 2016

(Author: Julie Kennealy – Executive Director Commercialisation (S151)) 

Subject: South Holland District Council Strategic Site Prioritisation 

Purpose: To seek approval from Cabinet for the development of options to secure a 
sustainable future for Ayscoughfee Hall Museum and Gardens, South 
Holland Centre and Priory Road offices.  The options developed will be 
presented to Cabinet as formal business cases for further consideration 
and to inform future decision making. 

Recommendations: 

1) That the development of individual  business cases to support the sustainable future of Priory 
Road Offices, South Holland Centre and Ayscoughfee Hall Museum and Gardens be 
approved;

2) That the priority ranking for the development of the business cases be approved; and

3) That it be noted that the resourcing requirements for the development of the business cases 
will be funded from sums already set aside for the transformation programme. 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 As part of South Holland’s Moving Forward MTFP 2015/16 – 2019/20, the need to secure 
a sustainable future for the key strategic site projects was a key element of the Council’s 
overall Transformation Programme.

1.2 The priority ranking driving the timing of the development of the cases is:

a. Council Offices Priory Road
b. South Holland Centre
c. Ayscoughfee Hall Museum and Gardens

1.3 At 28 June 2016 Strategy Board, Members supported the need to develop detailed 
business cases for the recommended options contained within this report. 

1.4 Strategy Board supported the recommended priority ranking for completion of the 
business cases.  

1.5 Strategy Board requested that approval was sought from Cabinet for the Priory Road 
business case to be started first, and upon completion, be referred back to Cabinet for 
decision.

Page 43

Agenda Item 8.



2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 The options listed below will be subject to a feasibility assessment through the drafting of 
individual business cases to assess their viability for successful delivery.  Each business 
case will inform any consultation processes and future formal decision making by elected 
members.

2.2 Priory Road:  Invest in the development of existing floor space within Priory Road to 
provide an access point for an expanded range of public sector services provided by 
multiple agencies to create a public sector service hub located in Spalding. This will 
involve a range of external partners and will result in sharing of costs currently borne 
solely by the Council and further provide opportunities to generate income. The business 
case will identify key partners, investment costs and projected returns to provide a 
working environment that facilitates and supports culture change towards a more digitally 
enabled customer focussed delivery of a range of public services. Our aim is to provide a 
“future proofed” working environment that can flex to meet future service requirements. 

2.3 South Holland Centre:  The Council seeks to retain ownership of the South Holland 
Centre as an important leisure and entertainment facility and part of our cultural offer for 
the town. The business case will seek to secure a sustainable  Centre for entertainment, 
film, restaurant, theatre, banqueting suite and an improved bar experience, by securing a 
high quality operator for the future management and running of the facility via a 
commercial operating lease agreement. 

2.4 Ayscoughfee Hall Museum and Gardens: The Ayscoughfee Hall Museum and Gardens 
are an important cultural offer for the District. The business case will seek to secure a 
sustainable future for the facility by transferring the asset to a specialist external agency 
(e.g. cultural/leisure trust, heritage organisation). The site will benefit from further 
promotion as an important heritage facility within the district and an expanded cultural 
offer.

2.5 The Priory Road recommended option to be developed further is focused on providing a 
Community Hub that will be able to serve the community more effectively especially the 
most vulnerable residents within the district. 

2.6  There is a recognised importance that the Council protects the heritage and cultural offer 
of Ayscoughfee Hall Museum and Gardens.

2.7 By building on an already established leisure offer provided by the South Holland Centre, 
the Council will be preserving the contribution to the local economy that the Centre 
already provides, whilst also providing an attractive social and leisure offer for its 
residents.

  
2.8 The option to do nothing has been considered and discounted due to the known financial 

constraints within our medium term financial plan and the important interdependencies 
between all 3 sites. 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 The rationale for recommending the preferred options to be developed further is based on:

a. recognising specific ongoing service costs that are not sustainable
b. acknowledging the market conditions that are both limiting and enabling
c. timely opportunities arising from external partners expressing a strong interest to co-

locate within Priory Road

Page 44



d. commitment to delivery of the Council’s growth and commercial ambition
e. acknowledging the impact on the local economy and communities
f. maintaining a leisure and culture offer to the communities whilst being prudent with 

the public purse.

3.2  Key prerequisites, interdependencies and constraints that affect the sites are summarised 
as follows:

a. Priory Road is situated in a conservation area that has planning constraints applied 
to it. By using the existing site and office space more effectively there will be an 
opportunity to create a sustainable revenue income stream.

b. The one public estate programme of change driving further efficiencies in the public
sector.

c. There is a need for a timely decision as potential partners have already formally  
expressed interest in co-locating in Priory Road; however they need to be on site in 
Priory Road by November 2017. A decision therefore needs to be made by 
September 2016 as to whether the Council wishes co-location 
discussions/proposals to proceed.

d. The South Holland Centre provides approximately £1million per annum to the Local 
Economy through the creation of footfall and spend through the town centre, 
benefiting local businesses.

e. The South Holland Centre provides a variety of events that attract residents from 
across the district and outside of the district, indicating a healthy demand for the 
service it offers.

f. The Centre’s operating cost to the Council is approximately £290,000 per annum 
which is not sustainable at its current level as it places continued pressure on the 
Council’s budget. 

g. Ayscoughfee Hall Museum and Gardens is held in trust to the people of Spalding. 
The maintenance and upkeep of the Grade 1 Listed Hall, the Grade 1 Listed 
Memorial and the Grade 2 Listed Gardens is an increasing pressure on the 
Council’s budget, as maintenance and upkeep is a longer term requirement for 
these historical sites.

3.3 The recognised prerequisites support the delivery of the Council’s corporate plan and 
providing the right service, at the right time in the right way and encourage the local 
economy to be vibrant with continued growth. 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The objective of the delivery of these strategic sites will be focused on providing, 
protecting and preserving the community’s leisure, cultural and service offer. 

4.2 By developing and strengthening the offer provided by the South Holland Centre and 
Ayscoughfee Hall Museum and Gardens it showcases the district as an attractive area for 
growth, encouraging further investment into the district by businesses.  

4.3 Creating the opportunity for reducing site operational costs;  reducing  sustained pressure 
against the Council’s budget; providing a platform for the Council to benefit from creating 
a revenue income stream over the medium term. 

4.4 Creation of a multi-agency service offer in one site at Priory Road, providing an enhanced 
service offer for residents. More effective partnership working focused on contact 
resolution in the most efficient and effective way. 

Page 45



5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there are no specific implications relating to 
carbon footprint and/or environmental issues at this stage.

5.1.2 The options being recommended for further investigation will report at a future stage more 
specific implications relating to carbon footprint and/or environmental issues. It is 
envisaged that any refurbishment of Priory Road Offices will take as a given that these 
factors would be considered.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 The options appraisal process and drafting of future business cases will fall within the 
delegations to Officers namely Directors.

5.2.2 For the procurement of specialist support to develop future business cases, the relevant 
Director would identify a suitable delegation and associated funding. If either of these did 
not exist, then a formal Member decision would be required. 

5.2.3 Once the business cases have been developed, the final decision will be an Executive 
decision.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the report author that at this stage there are no specific implications 
relating to contracts.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The recommended options related to these 3 strategic sites if delivered, will meet the 
Council’s Corporate Priorities. 

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 It is recognised that the provision of accessible community and leisure facilities has a 
positive impact on crime and disorder.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the report author that there is no immediate impact as a result of this 
report.  

5.6.2 Each option in its own right will have an equality impact assessment undertaken as part of 
future reports to Cabinet as each business case is developed for decision.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 The development of each business case for each individual site will have financial 
modelling contained with a breakdown of costs and expected financial benefits.

5.7.2 Priory Road is included in the Moving Forward programme which was approved by 
Council on 14 October 2015. Project A3 within the Aligning Public services strategic 
theme. 

Page 46



5.7.3 Costs of £50k are already included in the budget for work on the building together with 
half year income of £25k which is included in the savings target for 2016/17. Net 
additional income of £35k p.a. (rent / service charges income £60k, utility costs £25k) was 
included for 2017 /18 and each year thereafter. 

5.7.4 The 3 projects for development of options are also included in the commercialisation 
strategic theme within the programme, Ayscoughfee Hall Museum and Gardens (C4), 
South Holland Centre (C5) and Priory Road (C6).

5.7.5 No further transformation costs or indicative savings were included in the 2016/17 Medium 
Term Financial Plan but development of options will allow costs and savings to be 
included in the MTFP this year.

5.7.6 The transformation reserve has a balance of £1m at the beginning of the financial year 
and £700k has been provisionally assigned to potential 2016/17 costs. £210k has been 
allocated by the Transformation Board, year to date which includes Digitalisation activity 
that may be financed from the Capital budget. 

5.7.7 Savings targets of £3.3m are included in the transformation plan with £415k included in 
the 2016/17 budget. Current forecast for the year suggests this target will be met or 
exceeded with completed projects delivering £334k against a budget of £299k at the end 
of May 2016. 

5.7.8 Priory Road savings of £25k in 2016/17 will not be met and the £50k costs included in the 
budget have been assigned to developing options further including financial modelling as 
needed.

5.7.9 The South Holland Centre budget is being examined for potential savings in year based 
on trading history in the last 3 years and potential delays to planned maintenance works 
on the basis that major investment in the building may be necessary as part of the future 
options being examined. Savings of £80k in 2016/17 are being sought.

5.7.10 A Grant of £692k was received from the National Heritage Memorial Fund in 2002/03 
which has conditions that are in force for 25 years (estimated end date 2028). Any future 
changes must be within approved purposes and approved usage as defined by the Grant 
or a separate negotiation with NHMF will be necessary (which may include repayment of 
some of the Grant). There were provisions in the agreement for the total repayment of the 
Grant but these were extinguished in 2013.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 The delivery of the proposed options will have a positive impact on residents and 
communities within the district in terms of health and wellbeing. The proposed options and 
their associated business cases will highlight in greater detail the impact on the 
community and local area relating to health and wellbeing.

5.8.2 The creation of a Community Hub within Priory Road that potentially has partners co-
locating from Health, DWP, Lincolnshire County Council and Police, will create a central 
location for the residents of the community providing a better user experience. The 
Community Hub will reduce the time delay that can be experienced between partners with 
regards to sharing of information and unintentionally the duplication of process as the 
same enquiry is relayed several times before resolution can be sought.  

Page 47



5.8.3 By retaining a cultural offer and providing an enhanced leisure experience at Ayscoughfee 
Hall Museum and Gardens and the South Holland Centre, the Council will be continuing to 
contribute to the wellbeing of the district, as well as residents who travel into Spalding 
from outside of the district.

5.9 Reputation 

5.9.1 The recommended development of Priory Road in a timely manner, working in partnership 
with other key public sector organisations would have a positive reputational impact for 
the Council. 

5.9.2 By opting to protect and preserve leisure a cultural offer for the residents of South Holland 
would reinforce the Council’s ambition to deliver its priorities around the community. 

5.10 Risk Management 

5.10.1 Each option in its own right will have an appraisal of risk in accordance with the Council’s 
Risk Management Strategy as part of future reports to Cabinet as each business case is 
developed for decision.

5.10.2 The risk of doing nothing may lead to the Council not achieving a balanced budget in 
future years as its Medium Term Financial Plan may come under pressure due to 
unsustainable service costs for the South Holland Centre, Ayscoughfee Hall Museum and 
Gardens and the missed opportunity of rental income from Priory Road.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 Successful delivery of these strategic sites will require dedicated resource and a 
dedicated Project Manager with the required skill set. 

5.11.2 The Project Manager will be procured following agreement from Cabinet around the 
proposed and recommended prioritisation of sites for delivery. Indicative cost for the post 
is £50k plus on costs. The proposal is for a 2 year fixed contract initially with the funding 
for the post being drawn from the Council’s transformation budget.

5.11.3 Programme Management for the delivery of the sites will be resourced through South   
Holland’s Programme Delivery Manager over the medium term for continuity of delivery.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 Stakeholder management will be a key component surrounding the delivery of these sites. 

5.12.2 Timescales for any agreed consultation and stakeholder engagement will be time tabled 
and recorded in each individual business case for the sites as part of an overarching 
communication plan.

5.13 Transformation Programme

5.13.1 The three strategic sites were approved at Council on14 October 2015 as part of the 
Council’s overall Transformation Programme, listing projects to be delivered. Elected 
Members also agreed a Transformation Budget to support the implementation and 
delivery of associated projects.

Page 48



6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Not applicable.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 DWP – Department for Work and Pensions.
7.2 MTFP – Medium Term Financial Plan
7.3 NHMF - National Heritage Memorial Fund

Background papers:- None 

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Jenny Stephens Programme Delivery Manager.
Telephone Number: Direct Line 01775 764613
Email: Jenny.Stephens@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision:  No

Exempt Decision:  No 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder Housing (Share-Holders Representative) and the Board 
Chairman of Welland Homes

To: Cabinet – 12 July 2016 

(Author: Julie Kennealy – Executive Director Commercialisation (S151)) 

Subject: Housing Delivery/Welland Homes Interim Business Plan

Purpose: To consider, in light of the new housing and planning bill and the 
anticipated impact on and implications for the council as a Landlord in 
housing delivery across the District, an interim business plan for Welland 
Homes Limited (“Welland Homes”) and to agree arrangements to 
accommodate an anticipated increase in housing delivery requirements in 
the longer term. This report summarises the information contained in the 
confidential appendices 1, attached.

Recommendations to Full Council: 

1) That the following matters are recommended to Council:

a) That the interim business plan for Welland Homes is approved in order to provide fast 
tracked delivery of 82 homes (46 to the HRA) with a projected contribution, over the 
term of the programme, to the general fund of £1.039 million alongside contribution to 
the HRA of £139k;

b) That the current £2.5million funding limit for acquisition of residential housing 
investments is increased to £3million; and

c) That, subject to obtaining planning consent, redevelopment of council owned land and 
assets at Small Drove, Weston be approved with a view to facilitating a development of 
a 34 affordable homes for the benefit of the Council’s Housing Revenue Account. 

Recommendations to Cabinet: 

2) That officers are requested to consider the emerging details, of the housing and planning bill, 
alongside the housing delivery ambitions under devolution to identify the impact, risks and 
opportunities for the council and to provide options for future consideration by Cabinet to 
support any expanded housing delivery programme;

3) That (subject to Council approval of the revised business plan, including the development of 
Small Drove) delegated authority be granted to the Portfolio Holder for Housing, in 
consultation with the Council’s S151 Officer, to approve detailed matters in relation to Small 
Drove, including design, development layout, build specification and the nature of the 
affordable tenure; and

4) That Councillor Malcolm Chandler is appointed as a Director of Welland Homes, to replace 
Julie Kennealy.

Page 51

Agenda Item 9.



1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Welland Homes is the Council’s wholly owned housing development company established 
in July 2015 to support the delivery of a range of much needed housing solutions across 
the district. The current business plan for the company focuses on 3 main strands of 
activity:

 Direct development of housing for sale and market rent
 3rd party acquisition of housing investment properties
 Management of market rent housing.

1.2 Six sites were identified as the development focus for the company and these were centric 
to the initial business approved by Council in 2014.A number of constraints around the 
sites have since emerged, resulting in an inability to deliver a number of the approved 
component parts of the approved business plan.

1.3 Welland Homes has made significant progress in relation to 2 of the 6 sites, in addition to 
finalising the acquisition of 15 market rental units at a cost of  £2.1 million for investment 
purposes. A formal procurement process has been concluded to secure value for money 
delivery of developments. An architect has been appointed and appropriate resources 
recruited to ensure the company has the capacity and capability to deliver its objectives.

1.4 Since the original business plan was approved, The Council’s need for affordable rented 
stock has increased significantly. This increased requirement for additional council 
housing stock is due to a combination of: replacements needed for a re-invigorated right 
to buy programme, the need to deliver low cost home ownership solutions and increased 
availability of capital to invest in social housing as a result of successful efficiencies within 
the Council’s own landlord function. 

1.5 The Housing and Planning Act received Royal Assent on May 12th 2016, passing the 
Housing and Planning Bill into law. During its transition onto the statute books the bill was 
heavily debated, with over 250 amendments proposed by the House of Lords. The 
committee processes that followed were complex with further changes to the bill taking 
place. Full details of the implications of these changes will be known as and when 
different aspects of the Act are rolled-out by government. It is expected that many of the 
proposed changes to legislation will be realised through changes to the NPPF and the 
NPPG, alongside Secretary of State Regulations.  

1.6 Whilst the detail of the actual impact on the Council of the implementation of various 
component parts of the Act remains to be seen, it is certain that the Act will drive a 
substantial change in the housing and planning landscape. This in turn will have a direct 
impact on the housing delivery and associated land requirements for the council.

1.7 Given the uncertainty around the scale of the future housing delivery requirement for the 
district, the proposed interim Welland Homes Business Plan  will enable us to focus on 
what we do know and fast track delivery of some new housing whilst the emerging details 
of future development requirements are understood.

1.8 The new business plan proposes agreement for the development of 82 homes on 4 sites. 
Some of these sites will be owned by Welland Homes – for sale or rent. There will also be 
an increased investment budget for market rental units and importantly, a new approach 
to development on behalf of the Council’s HRA. This is achieved via a delivery 
arrangement where the Council commissions the work (for its HRA) directly from Welland 
Homes; whilst retaining directly the ownership of land and associated uplifts in land values 
as a result of any planning approvals which may be secured. This gives the Council a 

Page 52



route to increase its HRA stock at lower cost than the alternative acquisition at open 
market value. The first such development proposed for this route is the redevelopment of 
council owned land and assets at Small Drove, Weston with a view to facilitate a 
development of a 34 affordable homes for the benefit of the Council’s Housing Revenue 
Account. This report seeks Cabinet approval to proceed with this development, subject to 
planning. It is proposed that matters in relation to design, development layout, build 
specification and the nature of the affordable tenure be reserved as matters delegated to 
the Portfolio Holder for Housing, in conjunction with the Council’s s.151 Officer.

1.9 The interim business plan also provides an opportunity to test the various development 
activity streams within the company. The individual streams will be the focus of the 
company in the immediate future and separate projects can and will run in parallel 
providing a fast tracked mechanism for delivery in a risk managed controlled and 
structured way.

1.10 The activity for the period of this interim business plan is summarised by project below.

Site 1 (Severn Road Spalding) – 24 homes, 12 HRA, 12 retained by Welland Homes for 
market sale/rent
Site 2 (Parkside Crescent, Spalding) – 9 homes for retained by Welland Homes for market 
sale/rent
Site 3 (Small Drove Weston,) - 34 homes phased development on behalf of the Council
Site 4 (Green Lane Spalding) - 15 market rent homes retained by Welland Homes

1.11 It is proposed that all land transfers from the Council to Welland homes will be at market 
value post planning process and in the case of Small Drove, Weston no transfer of land 
will take place; the Council will retain full ownership of the land.

1.12 It is proposed the current allocation of £2.5million for the acquisition and holding of 
residential investment property will be increased to a maximum of £3million. 

1.13 The company operates via a board of 7 Directors currently made up of 6 elected members 
(politically balanced) and one senior officer. The current officer director is leaving the 
council’s employment in the near future and in considering a replacement it is proposed to 
change the make-up of the Board to reflect only elected Members. It is proposed that the 
Deputy Leader of the Council, Malcom Chandler is appointed as a Director of the 
company.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Do nothing

2.1.1 Whilst this option would provide time to consider the longer term implications of the 
Housing and Planning Act and Devolution, it would in the meantime limit the delivery of 
housing from Welland Homes under the existing business plan

2.2 Agree a full business case revision now

2.2.1 Given we don’t yet know the impact of the Planning and Housing Act or the increased 
housing requirement under devolution any such exercise at this stage could not consider 
accurately the detail of the longer term strategic picture.

2.3 Agree an interim Business Case Revision

Page 53



2.3.1 This has the advantage of securing quick delivery of some important projects, enabling 
further consideration of a longer term business case for the company once detailed 
analyses of the impact of imminent changes to the housing landscape have been 
considered alongside all options for securing delivery of housing in greater numbers.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 An interim business plan provides the best delivery option during a period of uncertainty in 
relation to the future scale of development required.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 Delivery of 82 homes by Welland Homes, including 46 homes for the Council’s HRA, 
together with an income of £1.039 million to the General Fund and £139,000 to the HRA. 
The breakdown of new properties is: 

 Site 1 (Severn Road Spalding) – 24 homes, 12 HRA 12 Market sale/rent
 Site 2 (Parkside Crescent, Spalding) – 9 homes for market sale/rent
 Site 3 (Small Drove Weston,) - 34 homes phased development on behalf of the HRA
 Site 4 (Green Lane Spalding) - 15 market rent homes

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Constitution & Legal

5.1.1 The proposed interim business plan is consistent with the agreed objectives of the 
Development Company and legal advice previously commissioned from Eversheds.  Part 
of the decision is executive in nature and therefore falls to the Cabinet to determine. 
Changes to the business plan result in a need for additional funding, outside of the 
existing budget, and is therefore a matter for Council approval.

5.2 Contracts

5.2.1 The Teckell compliant status of Welland Homes enables the council to use the company 
as in internal delivery vehicle to provide development services to the HRA.

5.3 Corporate Priorities

5.3.1 The interim business plan and associated future review of options in the light of the 
Housing and Planning Act meet the council’s medium term financial plan and commitment 
to housing and growth in the district

5.4 Financial 

5.4.1 Detail attached as Appendix 1.

5.4.2 The business plan was approved by the council on 25th March 2015 with delegated 
authority to the S151 Officer, to approve the final mix of use of reserves and borrowing in 
line with the business plan and Council Treasury Management Strategy.

5.4.3 No borrowing has been undertaken since the business plan was approved and the revised 
interim business plan assumes all funding will be from existing council reserves.

Page 54



5.4.4 The 2016/17 Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan did not include income from the 
business plan approved in March 2015 which was replaced by the financial implications of 
the progress of known elements at that time.

5.4.5 The HRA 2016/17 budget includes £2,295,000 in the capital programme for affordable 
housing and over £3m per annum in the following years up to 2019/20. The delivery of this 
medium to long term plan is central to the long term viability of the HRA as approximately 
20 properties per year are projected to be sold under the reinvigorated Right to Buy 
regulations. 

5.4.6 Total direct contribution to the General Fund is projected to be £1,039,000 over the life of 
the interim business plan which is £238,000 higher than the original business plan 
contribution of £801,000. In addition contributions of £139,000 are expected to be paid to 
the HRA (Nil in the original plan).

5.4.7 These financial contributions comprise of both capital and revenue items. The capital 
receipt contributions are advantageous given the capital growth programme of circa 
£21million, largely financed by revenue sources, agreed as part of the council budget 
process in February 2016. Further, the council may be able to take advantage in utilising 
the capital receipts to finance the previously revenue funded transformation programme 
under the Governments newly introduced flexible financing arrangements as part of our 
four year settlement.

5.4.8 Indirect contributions include £14k per annum increased Council Tax  by year 3 of the 
plan and approximately £96k of New Homes Bonus during the period of the plan (The 
outcome of a consultation on this income is due shortly and it is possible that NHB will 
only be received for 3 years rather than the current 6 years).      

5.5 Risk Management 

5.5.1 The approach set out in the interim business plan will be underpinned by strong risk 
management. The interim business plan provides reduced risk to the council that the 
original business plan by giving greater certainty and increased contributions to the 
council.

5.5.2 It should be noted that the value of the residential assets held may go up or down in line 
with market forces.

5.6 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.6.1 All housing development will be subject to the appropriate consultation processes.

5.7 Transformation Programme

5.7.1 The proposed levels of investment secure ongoing financial returns to support front line 
service delivery entirely in keeping with our medium term financial strategy, housing 
delivery for the HRA and Welland homes are key projects within our transformation 
programme.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All as the Growth agenda is extended.

Page 55



7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 NPPF – National Planning Policy Framework
NPPG – National Planning Policy Guideline
HRA – Housing Revenue Account
GF – General Fund
NHB – New Homes Bonus

Background papers:- None 

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Julie Kennealy, Executive Director Commercialisation (S151)
Telephone Number: 01775 761161
Email: Julie.Kennealy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 

(Please note that the appendix is not for publication by virtue of Paragraphs 3 
(Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information) and 5 (Information in respect of 
which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal 
proceedings) in Part 1 of Schedule 12a of the Local Government Act 1972.)

Appendix 1 – Financial Detail

Page 56

mailto:Julie.Kennealy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder Finance and the Executive Director Commercialisation 
(S151)

To: Cabinet – 12 July 2016

(Author:  Ken Trotter - Interim Chief Accountant (Deputy S151))

Subject: Financial Outturn 2015-16

Purpose: This report provides information on the out turn financial position of the 
Council, as at 31st March 2016. For information and to approve 
recommendations 

Recommendations to Full Council: 

1) That the report and Appendix A be noted;

2) That the final structure of council reserves be agreed, in line with paragraph 5.1.7 of this 
report;

3) That the carry forward of Capital Budgets of £910,313 be approved, as per paragraph 5.1.9 
of this report; and

Recommendations to Cabinet: 

4) That changes to financial reporting for the council evolve, as per paragraph 5.1.10 of this 
report, and that the Policy Development Panel / Performance Monitoring Panel be regularly 
updated on progress.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This report provides information on the un-audited financial position of the council in the 
following areas 

1.2 Revenue Budgets for the General Fund (GF), Housing Revenue Account (HRA)  and 
Spalding Special Expenses are examined in detail

1.3 Balance sheet Reserves position and collection performance for all major income streams

1.4 Capital Programme position statement GF & HRA

1.5 Treasury performance year to date

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note the report and to approve the recommendations detailed in Appendix A with 
amendments; and 

2.2 To note the report and not approve the recommendations detailed in Appendix A.

2.3 Do Nothing

Page 57

Agenda Item 10.



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 To provide timely information to Members on the overall finances of the Council and to 
make the best use of resources available.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To ensure that Members are updated regularly on the overall Council financial position 
and to act on any budget amendments required to reflect the latest position of spend and 
income.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Financial 

5.1.1 The report is financial in nature and further details are included within Appendix A.

5.1.2 The Un-audited Statement of Accounts for the financial year ended 31st March 2016 was 
handed over to the auditors on 30th June 2016. These have also been published on the 
Web site for public inspection which will continue until 11th August 2016 in line with The 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 and can be found here: 
http://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/3523/Financial-Statements

5.1.3 Core Statements of the Accounts and the Annual Governance Statement were presented 
to the Governance & Audit committee on 26th May 2016, the reports were noted without 
comment and “That the Executive Management Team approve the Annual Governance 
Statement and make comments as necessary within the appropriate timeframe”

5.1.4 The Financial Statements have been prepared under The Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code) and main changes to this were 
also presented to Governance & Audit on 26th May 2016 for information

5.1.5 There is a change to the format of the statements this year with the introduction of a 
narrative report which is designed to “engage the reader in a conversation” and includes 
management information in respect of budget and operational performance. 

5.1.6 Members are asked to note that due to improvements in the self service financial reports 
that the quarter 3 estimate for delivery of council services from budget holders was 
confirmed with additional savings, of £87k, mainly due to increased income in Planning 
(£58k) and recharges (£41k) offset by minor cost increases of £12k that may be recovered 
in 2016/17, details are available in Table 1 of Appendix A. The forecast is representative 
of a Continuous improvement regime in the monitoring system introduced in 2015/16 to 
ensure future forecasts continue to accurately reflect the financial position of the council at 
all times.

5.1.7 Reserves are monitored in year by the S151 Officer and interim chief accountant and a 
review of all balances has been completed during the closedown period. The restructuring 
of all reserves has also been completed and a revised position established as shown in 
Table 6 in Appendix A. In addition the work on the capital programme and an examination 
of the Repairs’ & Renewals fund contributed to an addition to reserves of £451k, over the 
quarter 3 estimates, details are available in Table 7 of Appendix A. The change in 
presentation reflects the Medium term financial plan and the move towards investment 
and growth which is required to support the introduction of local taxation during the life of 
this Parliament. To further support this council objective all available funds are being 

Page 58

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/3523/Financial-Statements
http://www.sholland.gov.uk/article/3523/Financial-Statements


reviewed and future reports will include this information. See Table 9 in Appendix A for 
additional information.  

5.1.8 The capital programme has been further examined and revised project management / 
Programme management / Finance monitoring activities introduced during 2015/16 will 
also be subject to continuous improvement to ensure objectives and targets are being met 
from all capital / investment activities to support the Growth agenda for the district. 
Financial reports have been changed to reflect budget holder requirements and forecasts 
will be completed on a monthly basis in future to again ensure the quarterly financial 
forecast presented to cabinet reflects the financial position of the programme at all times. 

5.1.9 As part of the review of capital projects all costs to complete have been examined and 
Budgets of £910,313 are required to be carried forward from the approved 2015/16 
Programme. See Table 15 in Appendix A for additional detail on projects and associated 
funding.

5.1.10 As Financial reporting will evolve from the continuous improvement programme it is 
proposed that a regular update be issued to the Policy Development Panel and the 
Performance Monitoring Panel.

5.2 Risk Management 

5.2.1 Risks are highlighted within Appendix A.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 Budget implications affect all wards.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 GF General Fund
HRA Housing Revenue account
CPBS   Compass Point Business Services
RTB      Right to Buy
ICT       Information and communications technology
MTFP   Medium Term Financial Plan

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Julie Kennealy - Executive Director Commercialisation (S151)
Telephone Number: 01775 761161
Email: Julie.Kennealy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to both a Mandatory Service / Discretionary Service

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A Financial Report for the year ending 31st March 2016

Page 59

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
mailto:Julie.Kennealy@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
 APPENDIX A

South Holland District Council 

Financial Report for the Year ending 31 March 2016 

Revenue Budget 

General Fund
Total Budget requirement for the year is £12.402m as approved by Council on 20th February 
2015.

Draft outturn for the General Fund is £12.071m, before approved movements to reserve, 
which is £331,000 below budget and an improvement of £87,000 from the previous forecast. 

Table 1 – Revenue Outturn 

 Major Variances
Expenditure 
(Under)/Over 

Budget

Income 
(Over)/ under 

budget

Total 
(Over) 
/Under 
Budget

Comments

 £'000 £'000 £'000  
Corporate Contingency 1,703 (1,735) (32) Brought forward 

    
Homelessness grants budget (4)  (4) Commitments review
Lease mowers (7)  (7) savings increase

CPBS contract inflation 10  10 Additional works 
agreed

Recurring savings (1) 0 (1)  
Planning application income  (58) (58) Major applications 
Legal services (8)  (8) Demand led service. 
Funding- Personal search fees 22  22 Costs settlement
Homelessness  (25) (25) Prevention activity
Local plan contribution  15 15 professional fees
Premises Insurance  10 10 Premium increase 
Additional recharge income  (41) (41) Shared mgmt. adjust 
One off adjustments 14 (99) (85)  
     
Total corporate contingency 1,716 (1,834) (118)  
Council Tax Reserve  (212) (212) Brought forward
NNDR  (1) (1) Additional income 
Sub total funding adjustments 0 (213) (213)  
     
Total Variance to Budget 1,716 (2,047) (331)  

Planning Income – (£58k)
Two major applications were received in the final quarter
 
Personal Search Fees – £22k
The national case has been settled and associated solicitors costs have been estimated at 
£22k. These costs may be reimbursed which would lead to windfall income in 2016/17.

Homelessness – (£25k) 
Lower prevention costs as a result of lower overall applications to the service.

Page 61



 

Local Plan - £15k
Additional external expertise was required to finalise amendments to the plan and the overall 
timetable

Recharge income – (£41k)
Staff time for Devolution activities, partially recharged under an agreement with Breckland 
Council.

Overall funding was in line with projections and is summarised in Table 2

Table 2 - Funding

    

Original 
Budget 
2015/16

Outturn 
2015/16

Variance
2015/16

Retained Business Rates 3,696 3,832 136

Council Tax income, including Town and Parish Council 
and Spalding Special Expenses 4,900 4,963 63

  
Revenue Support Grant 2,381 2,389 8
Other Non Service specific Grant Funding 1,425 1,419 (6)

Financing of the 2015/16 General Fund   12,402 12,603 201
Other capital grants  269 269
Total  12,402 12,872 470

Revenues and Benefits
The table below reflects the effect of the welfare reforms against the Revenues and Benefits 
budgets which is in line with the forecast issued for the year. 

Table 3- Revenues and Benefits

Revenues and Benefits
2015-16 
Budget

2015-16 
outturn

Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000
Court Income NNDR and C Tax (262) (231) 31
Housing Benefit overpayments (400) (495) (95)
Impairment for bad debts 166 211 45
Rent allowances and rebates net of subsidy-HRA 56 85 29
Rent allowances and rebates net of subsidy-GF 68 25 (43)
Total (372) (406) (34)  

This position is reported from management information systems which will be subject to a 
separate audit in October / November 2016. The application for Housing Benefit subsidy is 
based on a Local Authority error rate of 0.36% which is below the minimum threshold of 
0.48% and therefore subsidy at 100% is payable. Members should note that the error rate for 
2014/15 was 0.62% (£118k) and accordingly no subsidy was payable for these errors as it 
was above the maximum threshold of 0.54%. The main risk is that the error rate increases 
after audit, as occurred in 2014/15 which would result in an approximate £150k to £200k loss 
of subsidy. The systems have been checked and verified by officers looking at major items 
and testing all audit findings from 2014/15 together with a range of random checks being 
carried out in all areas. There is an adequate provision within the council tax reserve for this 
major risk.

Appeals against rateable value increases of £4.2m for Non-Domestic Rates continue to be 
examined by the Valuation Office but progress has been slow due to work on a planned 
revaluation for 2016/17. All appeals have been examined on a regular basis and a provision 
of £1.62m (40% SHDC share) is held against the outcome of these appeals.

Page 62



 
Members Budgets
Members have a budget of £15,000 for the term of office (£111k p.a. in the budget). These 
are closely monitored and reported on in the course of the year. Expenditure for the year was 
£66k and the balance of the budget, £45k has been transferred to an earmarked reserve. 

Housing Revenue Account 
Total Budget requirement for the year is £391,000, £147,000 as approved by Council on 20th 
February 2015 and £244,000 of capital expenditure carried forward from the 2014/15 
programme approved by council on 24th June 2015.

The out turn for 2015/16 is nil as all balances have been transferred to reserves as per the 
forecast presented in the Quarter 3 2015/16 Finance report.

The forecast for the year was based on a fundamental review of the HRA and this in turn 
informed the 2016/17 Budget.

There were a number of technical adjustments in the Q3 report which are not replicated here 
but Table 4 identifies the main variances to forecast and potential impact in 2016/17.

Table 4 – HRA out turn
Area Forecast Out Turn Change Comments

Income (16,719) (17,008) (289)
£184k income for lifeline / Garages transferring to GF in 
2016/17. £67k one off misc. income. £38k additional 
service charges ongoing with accelerated savings to be 
shown in 2016/17 and MTFP adjusted for 2017/18.

Repairs & 
Maintenance 3,033 3,210 177

Capital expenditure for Electrical upgrades and boiler 
replacements £180k was not able to be identified in 
current CSU system. No change to MTFP required as 
£1m reduction In costs in this area have been validated 
by the out turn based on 2015/16 volumes.

Supervision & 
Management 2,824 3,130 306

Set up costs for Parkside crescent & Severn road 
£114k awaiting capitalisation if revised WH business 
plan accepted. One off: pension fund /central services 
adjustments £60k; Allocations software changes in 
Northgate £50k; Property / CSU / Tenancy agreement 
reviews £51k. Additional costs associated with void 
properties including council Tax £31k are not in the 
MTFP.

Service charge 
costs 1,225 1,289 64

£178k costs for lifeline transferring to GF in 2016/17. 
Utilities accruals regulated with one off £65k benefit. 
Other employee savings £40k which will be required for 
vacancy factor savings in 2016/17.

Depreciation 
(MRA) 1,595 2,288 693

Component accounting introduced and depreciation 
rates adjusted. MTFP to be adjusted with 
corresponding reduction in RCCO.

Provision for 
Doubtful Debts 120 54 (66)

Based on broad brush % which has been in use for 
several years. Budget includes potential welfare reform 
costs so no change to MTFP.

Financing 
charges 2,310 2,283 (27)

Total investment income £64k against forecast of £37K. 
Budget includes £25k improvement in 2016/17 so no 
change to MTFP. Allocation between HRA / General 
fund to be based on full working capital balances from 
2016/17.

Revenue 
Contributions 
(RCCO)

5,612 4,754 (858)
Depreciation increase (£693k) substituted revenue 
contributions in capital financing.  Capital out turn 
financing (£365k). £200k additional contribution to 
reserve for affordable housing in 2016/17. 

0 0 0

No major issues were identified in the out turn which would give cause for concern on the 
2016/17 Budget. Page 63



 
Spalding Special Expenses

Expenditure relating to Spalding Special expenses forms part of the Council’s General Fund 
budget and is included in Table 1 above. The approved budget for 2015-16 is £218,650 of 
which £195,000 is funded by Spalding Taxpayers and the remainder by council tax support 
grant and reserve. The underspend of £5,571 has been transferred to reserves.. 

Table 5 – Spalding Special Expenses Out turn
Estimates Outturn Variance

 £ £ £
Spalding Cemetery 54,160 54,056 (104)
Spalding Allotments 2,500 711 (1,789)
Playing Fields at:-   0
    Ayscoughfee (excluding gardens) 11,510 10,152 (1,358)
    Halley Stewart 48,400 42,820 (5,580)
    Thames Road 13,480 9,860 (3,620)
    Fulney Road 10,320 10,320 0
    Monkshouse Lane 37,710 35,755 (1,955)
Contribution to Voluntary Car Scheme 8,500 8,500 0
Christmas Decorations 13,200 10,916 (2,284)
St Mary & St Nicolas Parish Church maintenance 750 750 0
Administrative Support 4,000 4,000 0
Bus Shelter maintenance 370 370 0
Contribution to play areas 1,000 1,000 0
Spalding Town Centre Promotion 1,500 1,500 0
Crime prevention 7,700 7,473 (227)
Chairman’s contingency 750 0 (750)
Contribution to  earmarked capital 2,800 14,896 12,096

   
Total Expenditure 218,650 213,079 (5,571)

   
Funding
Transfer to reserve-under spend v budget  3,731
Estimated share of Council Tax Support Grant (6,650) (6,650)
From capital reserve-HS gates (17,000) (15,160)
Special Expenses income 195,000 195,000

Balance Sheet

General Fund Reserve Balances

Balances are monitored in year by the S151 Officer and interim chief accountant and a 
review of all balances has been completed during the year
 
Budget Managers were asked to confirm their intended use of earmarked reserves during 
2015-16 and any non-statutory earmarked reserves have been specifically examined for 
purpose. 

The structure of the reserves has now been completed so that it more closely aligns with a 
range of operational risks and the objectives of the Council.

Page 64



 
  
Table 6 - Reserve movements

Balance
31st March

2015 Contributions Expenditure Transfers

Balance
31st March

2016

Change 
from 
previous 
forecast

Council Tax (4,480,129) (1,502,836) 1,382,711 1,896,025 (2,704,228) (358,877)
GF Insurance (256,767) 0 36,767 0 (220,000) 0
Transformation (1,818,940) (102,895) 882,623 66,441 (972,770) 43,293
Repair & Renewal (200,924) (202,441) 164,855 0 (238,511) (89,487)
Investment and 
Growth 0 411,060 (3,716,230) (3,305,170) (5,000)
Planning Reserve (366,872) 0 236,872 130,000 0 0
Section 106 (40,080) 0 0 40,080 0 0
Spalding Special 
Exps (153,823) 0 0 153,823 0 0
Property 
Acquisition (1,000,000) 0 0 1,000,000 0 0
Affordable Housing (118,000) 0 0 118,000 0 0
Capital Reserve (761,708) (110,000) 607,000 264,708 0 0
Climate Change (47,154) 0 0 47,154 0 0
Community 
Cohesion (19,189) 0 19,189 0 0 0
Emergency 
Planning (10,000) 0 10,000 0 0 0
Total GF Specific 
Reserves (9,273,585) (1,918,172) 3,751,077 0 (7,440,679) (410,072)

The increase in General Fund reserves is analysed in Table 7 below 

Table 7- Earmarked Reserves Variances to Quarter 3 forecast 
Increased funds assigned to Capital Financing 190,675
Lower Repairs costs from R & R reserve 89,487
Revenue grant commitments 85,200
Members budget 44,856
Additional in year savings 45,720
iTrent installation (funded from Transformation) (43,293)
Additional cost of Haley Stewart gates (Spalding Special) (2,573)
Change in Earmarked reserves £410,072
General Fund Reserve – Additional income £46,000

£456,072

The increase of funds assigned to Capital Financing will be used to reduce revenue funding 
in 2016/17 or working capital for invest to save projects whenever they are approved.

Project costs and programme for iTrent are in progress to allow 2016/17 monitoring. Status 
of ELDC involvement in the project is currently unknown but a contribution is being sought to 
enable them to utilise the system. 

HRA Reserve Balances

The HRA General reserve can be used for revenue or capital purposes and the Major 
Repairs Reserve can be used for capital purposes including repayment of debt.

The out turn position shows an overall improvement of £200k which reflects reduced 
expenditure on the capital programme. 

Page 65

file:///C:/Users/kentrotter/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/B7A6400A.xlsx#RANGE!A1
file:///C:/Users/kentrotter/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/B7A6400A.xlsx#RANGE!A1
file:///C:/Users/kentrotter/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/B7A6400A.xlsx#RANGE!A1
file:///C:/Users/kentrotter/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/B7A6400A.xlsx#RANGE!A1
file:///C:/Users/kentrotter/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/B7A6400A.xlsx#RANGE!A1
file:///C:/Users/kentrotter/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/B7A6400A.xlsx#RANGE!A1
file:///C:/Users/kentrotter/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/B7A6400A.xlsx#RANGE!A1
file:///C:/Users/kentrotter/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/B7A6400A.xlsx#RANGE!A1
file:///C:/Users/kentrotter/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/B7A6400A.xlsx#RANGE!A1
file:///C:/Users/kentrotter/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/B7A6400A.xlsx#RANGE!A1
file:///C:/Users/kentrotter/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/B7A6400A.xlsx#RANGE!A1
file:///C:/Users/kentrotter/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/B7A6400A.xlsx#RANGE!A1
file:///C:/Users/kentrotter/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/B7A6400A.xlsx#RANGE!A1


 
As part of an overall Treasury management review the Capital Financing Requirement of the 
HRA will be examined in 2016/17 together with available borrowing capacity to determine the 
limit of borrowing available which could potentially be used to support an increase in the 
Affordable Housing programme in the future.

Table 8: Projection of Reserve Balances
Housing Revenue Account Reserves Total

£000's

Cumulative Working Balance 8,968
Budget 2015-16 (147)
Rollover of capital programme from 2014-15 approved (244)

Forecast outturn variance 391
Forecast balance on the HRA at 31.3.16 8,968
Insurance Reserve 200
Major Repairs Reserve 2,609
Total HRA  reserves at 31.3.16 11,777

 

The Major repairs balance has been provisionally assigned to the Affordable Housing 
programme and recommendations for it to be used to acquire units as they become available 
are to be submitted in the New Year. As an example there is a potential site in Holbeach 
which is available off plan which could deliver 25- 35 additional dwellings. 

Total Resources 

Reserves are reported on a core statement to the annual statement of accounts, Movement 
in reserves Statement which includes £25.6m of usable reserves of the council including 
Balances in the HRA. Future reports will include movements in the reserves analysed in 
Table 9 on a quarterly basis.

Table 9 – Council reserves
Balance

31st March
2015 Movement

Balance
31st March

2016
£000’s £000’s £000’s

GF Balance 2,055 46 2,101
Earmarked - Table 6 above 9,274 (1,833) 7,441
HRA Balance -Table 7 above 9,168 2,609 11,777
Capital Receipts 1,907 672 2,579
Capital Grants 1,522 166 1,688
Total Usable  Reserves 23,926 1,660 25,586

Capital receipts can be used for any capital purpose which will include certain transformation 
activities from 1st April 2016 under newly introduced flexible financing arrangements as part 
of our four year government settlement.

Capital Grants are specific to projects including items such as Developer contributions 
(Section 106 obligations) Travellers sites, Grants for Growth, Disabled Facilities Grants and 
Private Sector, Decent Homes, loans.

The Grants for Growth in South Holland was delivered under Resource for Growth and a 
dispute with the auditors has arisen. They are querying the funding of new vehicles, in South 
Holland and several local authorities across England. Based on the Grant conditions 
maximum exposure for the council is £130,000 and this has been retained in the Capital 
grants unapplied account to cover any repayment demand that may be received following 
finalisation of the Audit report. The overall position is currently unclear as local guidance from Page 66

file:///C:/Users/kentrotter/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.MSO/B7A6400A.xlsx#RANGE!A1


 
DCLG appeared to suggest this expenditure would be classified as authorised but this is a 
direct contradiction of the Grant conditions. Local guidance has previously been used by 
Auditors when assessing claims. 

In addition the Statement of accounts also identifies total resources used in the provision of 
services and a comparison to 2014/15 is included in Table 10 for information.

Table 10: Total Resources
 2014/15 2015/16 Variance
Strategy & Governance 1,699 1,802 103
Commercialisation 2,440 2,906 466
Place 5,486 5,666 180
Resource Allocation Total 9,625 10,374 749
Items not included in resource allocation (98) (171) (73)
precept and levies 2,846 2,926 80
capital expenditure 422 1,089 667
Statutory accounting adjustments (743) 445 1,188
To and from reserves 1,391 (1,833) (3,224)
Additional financing (404) (469) (65)
Total 13,039 12,361 (678)

This Table is not reported during the year as it has a mix of funding sources which are 
derived on a different basis to the annual budget. However a management version will be 
introduced as part of the quarterly Financial Forecast report in 2016/17.

Council Tax Collection

At the end of March 2016, the collection rate for council tax was 98.05% against a collectable 
debit of £39.1m

Table 11 - Annual Collection 
January February March

Year % Collected % Collected % Collected
2015-16 94.94% 96.84% 98.05%
2014-15 95.11% 96.74% 97.86%

Business Rates Collection

At the end of March 2016 the collection rate was 98.64% against a collectable debit of 
£27.4m.

Table 12 - Annual Collection
January February March

Year % Collected % Collected % Collected
2015-16 92.93% 96.05% 98.64%
2014-15 93.13% 95.83% 98.37%

Housing Rent Collection (HRA)

At week 52 the collection rate was 99.59% against a collectable debit of £17.5m.

Table 13 - Annual Collection

Key performance Indicator 2014-15 2015-16 

% of income collected 99.55% 99.59%

Bad Debt write off £18,260 £33,266Page 67



 

All debt owing to the council was reviewed in preparation for the end of the financial year 
utilising standard provisioning techniques. An additional 100% collectability review has since 
been introduced and a separate report on findings will be issued in September 2016.

Capital Programme

Table 14 – Summary Financial Data

Project Status

9 General Fund Projects were completed in year at a cost of £1,027k which was £11k lower 
than Budget. 4 projects were in progress at the end of the year with total expenditure of 
£943k and an estimated cost to complete of £605k (£527k in 2016/17 & £78k in 2017/18). 4 
ITC projects are due to start in 2016/17 following revisions to the project specifications in 
respect of Transformation with an estimated cost to complete of £305k. 8 projects were 
closed and £274k of funding has been made available for other future projects.

The HRA programme for the year was completed, using the revised asset management 
guidelines as approved by council in February 2016, at a cost of £4,450k which was £3,050k 
lower than budget. No projects are being carried forward to 2016 as the new programme has 
been compiled using revised asset management detail which identified existing potential 
changes to dwelling components.

Slippage

Projects in progress or due to start in 2016/17 are identified in table 15 overleaf. Approval to 
carry forward appropriate budgets is being requested as a recommendation from Cabinet to 
Council.

Table 15 – Carry Forward Budget

Activity Approved 
Budget

 Slippage Revised 
Budget  Actual Variance

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
ICT 354 (305) 49 34 (15)
Economic Development 1,180 (36) 1,144 1,187 43
Asset and Property 321 (28) 293 95 (198)
Growth Fund 316 - 316 311 (5)
Housing 625 (408) 217 151 (66)
Disabled Facilities Grants 325 (133) 192 192 -
General Fund Programme 3,121 (910) 2,211 1,970 (241)

HRA Programme 7,500 - 7,500 4,450 (3,050)
Total 10,621 (910) 9,711 6,420 (3,291)

Activity
Project 
Number

Carry 
Forward 
Budget

£

2016/17
Expenditure

2017/18
Expenditure

ICT – Digitalisation 741 200,000 200,000
ICT – System backup upgrade 740 30,000 30,000
ICT – Network upgrades 743 25,000 25,000
ICT – Disaster recovery 744 50,000 50,000
Economic Development - Broadband 738 36,330 36,330
Asset and Property – Chamber upgrade 70E 27,875 27,875
Housing - Travellers sites  776 407,792 330,000 77,792
Disabled Facilities Grants 750 133,316 133,316
Total 910,313 832,521 77,792

Page 68



 

ICT projects, funded from capital receipts, are due to commence in July 2016. Project plans 
have been agreed and will be tracked by the programme manager and Finance as 
appropriate. Requirements for digitalisation are being reworked in line with latest progress on 
other transformation projects. Expenditure has been based on using external consultants as 
capability in the council is not yet available. A training programme is included in these 
projects to increase in house expertise and reduce dependence on external resource. 

The Lincolnshire Broadband project, funded from revenue contributions, is in progress with 
measured installations 94% complete. 

Chamber upgrades, funded from revenue contributions, in respect of microphones have 
been completed and Audio Visual upgrades including enhance projection equipment will be 
completed in the first half of 2016/17

The Spalding Travellers site project, Grant funded is in progress and forecast to be complete 
by July 2016. There is a temporary site to be constructed in Long Sutton and this is due to 
commence in April 2017 following consultation. 

Disabled facilities grants are an ongoing statutory, mandatory service. This is demand lead 
and is funded by the Better Care fund administered by Lincolnshire County Council. 
Discussions are in progress with Adult social care about early intervention changes to the 
programme going forward. Additional funding is expected from 2017/18 to fund these 
activities. 

Project management

All projects in the 2016/17 programme including those with a carry forward request have 
been reviewed by Finance, Programme & Performance management.

Project plans identifying key dates and project milestones are being reworked in line with 
progress and Budgets have been phased in line with current projections.

Future reports will include the information as per table 16 overleaf together with a narrative 
on progress towards outcomes. This narrative will also include any timing / Budget issues 
with recommendations on a quarterly basis.

Cabinet are asked to advise if £ 000’s would be a sufficient level of detail for this report in the 
future.

Funding
Grants 541,108 463,316 77,792
Capital Receipts 305,000 305,000 -
Revenue Contributions 64,205 64,205 -

Total 910,313 832,521 77,792

Page 69



 

Table 16 – Capital Summary Report
               
 South Holland District Council - Capital Programme 2015/16  
  
 Spend profile  
  Project  Revised 

Budget 
 Actual to 

date 
 (Under 
spend) 

 Over 
spend 

 Slippage  Released  Out turn 2015/16 Out 
turn

 2016/17 
Forecast 

 2017/18 
Forecast 

 

  £  £  £  £  £  £  £  £  £  £  
 0  
 Strategy & Governance            416,000            76,567 (32,058) 29,500 (332,875) (4,000) 76,567 76,567 332,875                      -    
 Commercialisation         1,556,000       1,498,063 (19,556) 57,949 (36,330) (60,000) 1,498,063 1,498,063 36,330                      -    
 Place         1,149,000          395,657 (2,663) 0 (541,108) (209,572) 395,657 395,657 463,316            77,792  
 Housing Revenue Account         7,500,000       4,449,504 (44,093) 0 0 (3,006,403) 4,449,504 4,449,504                          -                        -    
  
 Capital Programme       10,621,000       6,419,791 (98,370) 87,449 (910,313) (3,279,975) 6,419,791      6,419,791              832,521            77,792  

               

               
 Grants & Contributions (1,510,000) (818,606) 2,663 (57,949) 541,108 205,572 (818,606) (818,606) (463,316) (77,792)  
 Capital Receipts (697,000) (101,067) 32,058 (20,000) 305,000 278,875 (101,067) (101,067) (305,000) 0  
 s106 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  
 Revenue Contributions (8,414,000) (5,500,118) 63,649 (9,500) 64,205 2,795,528 (5,500,118) (5,500,118) (64,205) 0  
 Borrowing 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0  
  
 Capital Financing (10,621,000) (6,419,791) 98,370 (87,449) 910,313 3,279,975 (6,419,791) (6,419,791) (832,521) (77,792)  
               

P
age 70



 

Treasury 

Security

The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks for the management of risk as Officers 
believe that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are adequate to 
monitor the current and trend positions and amend the operational strategy to manage risk 
as conditions change. The Council uses the creditworthiness service provided by Capita 
Asset Services which provides a maximum duration for investments depending on the colour 
rating calculated for each financial institution. All investments held by the Council are within 
the recommended maximum duration.  

The chart below shows how the Council’s funds are spread between differing counterparties.  

Table 17 - Counterparty Exposure

Cash

As at 31st March 2016 the Council had total deposits of £28m including accrued interest of 
which £7.4m was held in instant access accounts to meet cash flow requirements. 

The Council’s average level of deposits during 2015/16 was £32.8m. 

Yield

Budget Interest 2015-16        £154,800 (£126,000 Gen. Fund & £28,800 HRA)   
Actual Interest 2015-16        £233,902 (£170,002 Gen. Fund & £63,900 HRA)                                                                                                                                                                                                               

Target yield (Average 3 month LIBID) 0.46%
Actual Yield achieved to 31/03/16 0.71%
Actual Yield in 2014-15 0.645%

External Borrowing

The Council borrowed £67.456m from the PWLB on 28th March 2012 to meet its obligations 
under the Housing Revenue Finance Reforms. This was borrowed for a period of 50 years 
on a maturity basis at a rate of 3.48%. No new borrowing has been undertaken or is planned 
this financial year.

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Manager Governance – Mark Stinson

To: Cabinet – 12 July 2016

(Author: Amanda Taylor - Democratic Services Officer)

Subject: Appointment of Panels and Working Parties

Purpose: To consider the appointment of Panels and Working Parties

Recommendations: 

1) That the Pre-application Consultation Group be re-established for the municipal year without 
amendment to its terms of reference; and substitutions be permitted where members form 
part of a political group subject to (i) substitutions applying for individual meetings only and 
(ii) the group leader or nominated representative submitting details to the Executive Manager 
Governance by noon on the day of the meeting, or at least 3 hours before the meeting, 
whichever is the sooner; and

2) That the ICT Councillor Working Group be re-established for the municipal year without 
amendment to the terms of reference; that substitution arrangements apply (including for the 
Portfolio Holder with responsibility for ICT) where members form part of a political group 
subject to (i) substitutions applying for individual meetings only and (ii) the group leader or 
nominated representative submitting details to the Executive Manager Governance by noon 
on the day of the meeting, or at least 3 hours before the meeting, whichever is the sooner.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 In accordance with the Constitution, the Council at its annual meeting on 11 May 2016 was 
asked to decide which Panels and Working Parties to establish for the municipal year, and 
their size and terms of reference. 

2.0 COUNCIL DECISIONS

2.1 Article 4 and Part 3 (Delegations) within the Constitution detail which functions of the 
authority are functions of the full Council, and which are functions of the Cabinet.

2.2 Some of the Panels and Working Parties deal with executive functions only, others deal 
with non-executive functions (such as budget and policy framework issues).  Whilst the 
Council is responsible for adopting and amending the budget and policy framework, the 
Cabinet is able to make recommendations to full Council in respect of non-executive 
functions.  Such Panels and Working Parties therefore submit their recommendations and 
observations to Cabinet for consideration and possible recommendation on to Council.  It is 
therefore appropriate for Cabinet to determine whether such Panels or Working Parties 
should be re-established and, if so, to determine their terms of reference and composition.

2.3 Full details of the Panels and Working Parties, together with details of their existing terms of 
reference, are detailed below.  Nominations will be submitted by the Group Leaders prior to 
the meeting.

2.3.1 Pre-Application Consultation Group (Non-executive/Council function – but Cabinet 
advises/makes recommendations to Council)

Page 73

Agenda Item 11.



COMPOSITION:  12 councillors appointed in accordance with the political group 
regulations (although it is not necessary to appoint in accordance with political group 
regulations as the Consultation Group has no executive powers and cannot therefore make 
any decisions, only recommendations) plus appropriate officers with the power to co-opt 
relevant ward members and portfolio holders in an advisory role.  There is no restriction on 
whether members of the Consultation Group must be members of the Planning Committee.

TERMS OF REFERENCE:  (No executive powers) To assess and advise on the likely
planning considerations in respect of significant planning proposals at both pre-application
and post-decision stages. To provide a forum at which ward members can be informed
about significant proposals likely to affect people in their wards and to enable them to
consult and report back on such proposals.

SUBSTITUTIONS:  Substitutions are permitted where members form part of a political 
group subject to (i) substitutions applying for individual meetings only and (ii) the group 
leader or nominated representative submitting details to the Executive Manager 
Governance by noon on the day of the meeting, or at least 3 hours before the meeting, 
whichever is the sooner.

RECOMMENDATION:  That the Pre-Application Consultation Group be re-established for 
the municipal year without amendment to its term of reference; and substitutions be 
permitted where members form part of a political group subject to (i) substitutions applying 
for individual meetings only and (ii) the group leader or nominated representative submitting 
details to the Executive Manager Governance by noon on the day of the meeting, or at 
least 3 hours before the meeting, whichever is the sooner.

(If the above recommendation is accepted the membership of the Working Party will be 
approved at the Cabinet meeting on 12 July 2016.)

2.3.2 ICT Councillor Working Group (Working Group to report directly to the Cabinet)

COMPOSITION:  7 Councillors comprising the Portfolio Holder with responsibility for ICT, 
together with 6 other members based on cross party member involvement.  The political 
group regulations do not apply.  

TERMS OF REFERENCE:  (No executive powers.) To provide a wider more strategic remit 
with the following scope:
 The Role of ICT in the organisation;
 New technology – strategic positioning;
 ICT support – general performance, not individual problems;
 Progress with larger projects; and
 ICT Security and Governance.

SUBSTITUTIONS:  Substitution arrangements apply (including for the Portfolio Holder with 
responsibility for ICT) where members form part of a political group subject to (i) 
substitutions applying for individual meetings only and (ii) the group leader or nominated 
representative submitting details to the Executive Manager Governance by noon on the day 
of the meeting, or at least 3 hours before the meeting, whichever is the sooner.

RECOMMENDATION:  That the ICT Councillor Working Group be re-established for the 
municipal year without amendment to the terms of reference as detailed above; that 
substitution arrangements apply (including for the Portfolio Holder with responsibility for 
ICT) where members form part of a political group subject to (i) substitutions applying for 
individual meetings only and (ii) the group leader or nominated representative submitting 
details to the Executive Manager Governance by noon on the day of the meeting, or at 
least 3 hours before the meeting, whichever is the sooner.

Page 74



(If the above recommendation is accepted the membership of the Working Party will be 
approved at the Cabinet meeting on 12 July 2016.)

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Not to approve the recommendations.

2.2 To approve the recommendations with amendments.

2.3 To approve the recommendations with no amendments.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 The Panel and Working Groups recommended for re-appointment have a future role to 
perform in advising the Cabinet or making decisions under delegated authority. 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 By considering the recommendations of Council with regard to whether or not to re-
establish the Panels and Working Parties, the Cabinet is ensuring that the groups are 
relevant and necessary to effectively undertake the Council’s business, therefore ensuring 
an appropriate use of the Council’s resources.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 Travelling to and from meetings is considered to have a low impact.

5.2   Financial 

5.2.1 It is not possible to identify the cost implications of appointing Panels and Working Parties.  
However, every meeting requires the preparation of reports and agendas which does of 
course have cost implications.  Travel/subsistence allowances and carer’s allowances are 
also payable to councillors under the Council’s Scheme for Payment of Members’ 
Allowances, set out at Part 6 of the Constitution.  There is no specific budget allocated for 
expenditure arising from working parties and panels.

5.3 Staffing

5.3.1 Again, it is not possible to identify the staffing implications of appointing Panels and 
Working Parties.  However, every meeting must be serviced by officers which does have 
staffing implications.  

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 No wards are directly affected by this report. 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.

Background papers:- None

Page 75

%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Mark Stinson – Executive Manager Governance
Telephone Number: 01775 764612
Email: mark.stinson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service

Appendices attached to this report: None

Page 76

mailto:mark.stinson@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

Page 77

Agenda Item 14.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	7. Superfast Broadband contribution by South Holland District Council
	App A - SFB Lincolnshire June2013
	App B1 to Broadband report
	App B2 to Broadband report
	App C 21 March 2012 Joint PMP and PDP
	App D 26 April 2016 Joint PMP and PDP
	App E Broadband FAQs v1.0

	8. South Holland District Council Strategic Sites Prioritisation
	9. Housing Delivery/Welland Homes Interim Business Plan
	10. Financial Outturn 2015-16
	Appendix A

	11. Appointment of Panels and Working Parties
	14. Housing Delivery/Welland Homes Interim Business Plan - Appendix (enclosed).

